To lead the future of the
UK's digital automotive

marketplace

We continue to think about our
strategy in terms of three strategic
pillars, which address UK car buying,
the wider automotive ecosystem
and our culture as a business.

Each of these s criticalin helping to meet our purpose to
lead the future of the UK’s digital automotive marketplace
and we have made progress against each pillar in 2019.

> Readmore

Strategic pillars

Improve
car buying
inthe UK

Evolve the
automotive

ecosystemin
the UK

Become the
most admired
UK digital
business

Our culture is built around our digital,
data-driven approach, our values,
our commitment to diversity, our
rapid response to change and our
continued success and growth.

Critical to our culture are our values, from being
community-minded to determined, they are at the heart

of our company. They are fundamental to our recruitment
process, induction, training, the way we behave and underpin
our company's approach to everything that we do.

Ourvalues

Be determined

We are passionate about our
customers, showing stamina
andresilience,and have the
convictiontodo theright
thing. We willrollup our
sleevestogetthejobdone.

Bereliable

We are outcome-oriented

and we dowhat we say we
willdo. We performunder

pressure and have astrong
work ethic.

Be courageous

We are boldinour

thinking, overcoming fears,
challenging convention
and embracing change.

Be humble

We are open, honest,
approachableand we

treat each other fairly. We
recognise successinourselves
and othersbutadmitand

learn from mistakes.

Be curious

We are always learning. We
question why, we search for
better ways, ask questions
and actively listen.

Be community-minded
We look after each other,
respectdiversityand
advocateinclusion. We

are committed to making
adifferencetothe
communities around us
andthink of others

before ourselves.
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2019 selected highlights'
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Revenue Operating profit? Basic EPS? 3
£m £m pence pershare a3
£355.1m £243.7m 21.00p
+8% +10% +18%
2019 2019 69% Maréin mm
2018 2018
2017 2017
Operational
Cross platform visits Advertviews Live car stock
Monthly average visits spentacross Average number permonth Average number per month
all platforms (millions) (millions)
49.1m 239m 461,000
+1% -3% +2%
2019 239m 2019
2018 246m 2018
2017 247m 2017

1 Thefulllist of KPIsisavailable on pages 20 to 23.

2 2018and 2017 have beenrestated following the adoption of IFRS 16.

Key achievements

— We successfully monetised our
dealer finance proposition,
allowing retailers to advertise
their finance pricing to consumers
earlierin their buying journey.

— We launched anew car
proposition which saw us close
the year with over 30,000 physical
new cars on autotrader.co.uk.

— We successfully maintained our
leadership positionin both visits
and minutes, as measured by
comScore, despite increased
competitionin the market.

— We completed ajoint venture
with Cox Automotive UK aimed at
developing amore efficient way
forretailers to source vehicles.

— We met the Hampton Alexander
Review recommendation of having
over a third of our leadership team
and their directreports aswomen.

— With community-minded a core
company value, we're pleased
toreportthat ouremployees
completed 467 volunteering days
withinthe reported financial year.

— We were the first company to
be accredited by the National
Autistic Society as an autism
friendly employer.
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Chairman’s
statement

a1

We returned £151mto
shareholders through
dividends and share
buybacks, and reduced
debt by £30m.”

Ed Williams
Chairman

Overview

The lastyear saw Auto Trader make major
steps towards many of our strategic goals
whichlie beyond simply being the best place
forcarbuyersandsellers to advertise their
carsinthe UKand Ireland. The next
paragraph highlights three of these.

First, we started to charge our customers for
our Dealer Finance service. Thisallows car
finance and monthly payments against
vehicles advertised on Auto Trader. By the end
of theyear 67%of all cars displayed car finance
quotes whether via theretailer orusing our
ownservice,viaathird party. Second, we
introduced the ability for manufacturers and
retailers toadvertise their new car stock,
including vehicles manufactured butnotyet
allocated toaspecificretailer. Third, we
announced andreceived Competitionand
Markets Authority clearance forajointventure
with Cox Automotive, the UK's second largest
carauctionbusiness, to provide retailers with
afullyintegrated online solution to sourcing
used cars, including virtualauctions.

Healthy progress was made in our core
business of advertising used cars for sale,
despiteatoughnew car marketandstable
butslightly declining used car market. Indeed,
the tougher trading conditions experienced
by many of our customershaveledtoa
re-evaluation of their marketing approach and
greaterappreciation of the efficiency gains to
be made by making their business more digital.

Culture, diversity and inclusion

This Annual Reportincludes extensive
coverage of ourapproach,initiativesand
outcomes withregard to culture, diversity
andinclusion. lwanted to highlight here one
specificachievement. In April 2019 Auto Trader
becamethe firstcompanyinthe world to

be accredited by the National Autistic Society
asanautism friendly employer.

=

Gender diversity

® Men @ Women

% of women on Board 33%

As at 31 March 2019

As at 6 June 2019

% of women on Board 43%

My personalthanks goes out to those people
inthe organisation thatidentified and took
onthe challenge of changing Auto Trader to
make us worthy of thisaward. Itemphasises
thatat Auto Trader effortsare not,and
should not be, confined only to areas
receiving corporate governance attention.

Dividend, financing and capital strategy

We are recommending to shareholders a final
dividend of 4.6 pence per share, bringing the
totaldividend forthe yearto 6.7 pence per
share. This14%increase onthe previousyear
isunderpinned by our EPS growth.

Our capital strategy policy remains
unchanged. We aim to distribute around a
third of netincome as dividends, and use the
majority of surplus cash, after dividends, to
buy backshares while alsoreducing debt.

In 2019, we returned £151m to shareholders
through dividends and share buybacks, and
reduced debt by £30m. Aswe reported last
year,on éJune 2018 we entered into anew
five-year £400m revolving credit facility, the
majority of which has subsequently been
extended fora furtheryear. £313m was drawn
atthe endof the year.

Board changes and governance
Following the end of the financial year, we
announced the intention of our CEO, Trevor
Mather, toretire from the Company and step
down from the Board on 31 March 2020.
Trevor has made a huge contribution to the
business. The Board would like to thank him
and wishhimallthe bestinretirement.

We will talkabout Trevor’s contributions and
achievementsinnextyear's AnnualReport,
when we canreflect onthe complete period
of histenure.

We were delighted to be able toannounce
that Nathan Coe, previously COO and CFO,
willreplace Trevor on hisretirementand that
Jamie Warner, previously Deputy CFO, will
become CFO. We were also delighted to
announce the promotion of Catherine Faiers
totherole of COO and herappointment to
the Board from May 2019.

There were no changes to the Board, nor
material mattersrelating to corporate
governance, during the yearunderreviewin
this Annual Report. We have reviewed the
impact of the 2018 Corporate Governance
Code. We were already inline with the new
requirementsinmostrespects. Where
changesare needed, these are already
underway and we are committed to taking the
necessary steps tocomply with the new Code
within12 months. Further detailsareincluded
withinthe Corporate Governance report.

Annual General Meeting

Our Annual General Meeting ((AGM') willbe
held at10.00am on Thursday19 September
2019 at4th Floor,1Tony Wilson Place,
Manchester, M154FN and we expect that
all Directors willbe inattendance.

Ed Williams
Chairman
6June 2019
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Chief Executive
Officer’s statement

"/

We continue to operate
the UK's largest digital
automotive marketplace
and have maintained our
market leading position.
A large proportion of our
audienceis unique to Auto
Trader, and consumers
spend more time on our
platforms than any other
automotive site.”

Trevor Mather
Chief Executive Officer

Another year of growth

1- Innovationdriving our operational
and financialresults
Operating and financialreview
pages 24-29

2 - Our strategy and strategic pillars
Our strategy pages18-19

3 - Acommitment to our people
and culture
Corporate socialresponsibility
pages 35-45

4 - The automotive market today
Market overview pages 8-11

I
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Our strategic focus

We are focused on our purpose to lead
the future of the UK digital automotive
marketplace. Our strategyis centredon
improving car buying and sellingin the UK,
evolving the wider automotive ecosystem
and maintaining a continued focus on
building a culture that enables us torealise
this opportunity.

Summary of operating performance
Despite continued tough wider market
conditions, we have had a greatyear.
Revenue grew by 8%to £355.1m as retailers
and manufacturersrecognise the valuein
our core marketplace and our products.
Operating profit grew by 10% with our
Operating profit marginincreasing to 69%.

Our key deliverables

We continue to operate the UK's largest
digitalautomotive marketplace and have
maintained our market leading audience
position by asignificantmargin. Alarge
proportion of our audienceis unique to
Auto Trader,and consumers are more
engaged with our platforms compared to
any otherautomotive site.

In April 2018 we successfully executed our
annualretailer pricing event, introducing
new products and features to better enable
retailersand manufacturersto compete
more effectively on our marketplace. As
part of this, we effectively monetised our
Dealer Finance product,and through the
yearincreased penetration of our Advanced
and Premium advertising packages.

The market

Boththe new and used car markets declined
inthe financialyear, although the size of the
overall UK car parc continues to grow which
benefits our stock-based business model.
Predictions suggest that both markets will
continue todecline for the calendar year
2019, albeit at a slower rate thanin 2018.
Economicand political uncertainty plus
factorsunique to the new car market, for
example the continuedimpact of the
Worldwide Harmonised Light Vehicle Test
Procedure, continue toimpact both new
andusedcarsales.

People and culture

People are our greatest asset, so

fostering a culture thatis truly values-led,
principles-drivenand agile and responsive to
change,isafundamental part of our strategy.
We work hard to ensure our people are

proud towork for the business, and brilliantly
92% said that they were proud to work at
Auto Traderin thisyear’'sannualemployee
engagementsurvey.

Ourambition to become the mostadmired
digital business can only be fulfilled by
having adiverse workforce, as wellasadeep
rooted desire to make a difference to wider
society. We are making progress on our
diversity andinclusion strategy and continue
todevelopinitiatives to drive greater gender
balance acrossalllevelsin the organisation.
Our Gender Pay Gap Reportshowed an
improvement this year, but there is stillmore
work tobe done.

Trevor Mather
Chief Executive Officer
6June 2019
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Our approach

Creating value for
our stakeholders

Market Our business

overview model

The automotive market comprises over Auto Trader is the UK’s largest digital

10 million new and used car transactions each automotive marketplace.

year, butis complex and often inefficient. Our trusted brand has been established for over 40 years,
We believe that by continually improving transparencyin andinthattime, we have builtanetwork of highly engaged
the marketplace around pricing, specifications of the car, consumers searching over450,000 cars from a d|verse
history checks and dealer reviews we canimprove trust retailer base. These cars z_are largely supplied by retailers,
held within theindustry. Greater trust, as wellasa much aswellasasmallproportion from other consumers, and
improved buying journey, should help many consumers are thenadvertised on our marketplace, the most effective
overcome the perception that changing their car is automotive sales platform. This creates a network effect
anonerous process and, ultimately, encourage model - a self-perpetuating cycle with each element
more transactions. further fuelling the next.

Focus areas Our model

Consumers New and used cars sold Q Inputs

Owners of the 34.9 million

cars withinthe UK car parc. 10 2
Consumersinvolvedin (] m
transactionsasbuyers, — Scalable technology platform
sometimesalsoassellers People and culture

and providers of stockvia — Cash generation
part-exchange.

Trusted brand
Dataatscale

O Activities

Ensuring the best choice of vehicles

Trade Used carssold from
Retailersareinvolvedin trade to consumers
the sale of new cars, as Providing insights and products that enable

partof amanufacturers’ 5 0 retailersand manufacturers to compete
distribution network,and [ J m more effectively

sellers of used cars. MUCh Risk managementand strong corporate
of thatused car stockis governance

sourced via part-exchange
orthrough auction.

Connecting new and used buyersandsellers

® Outputs

Making car buying easier

Manufacturers Totalnew car — Improvingretailerand manufacturer businesses

New cars are builtand registrations
distributed either to fleet

and lease companies or sold 2 3
tocompaniesand private o m
buyers, usually via

afranchise network.

Delivering sustainable revenue and profit growth

Investingin our people, culture and community

e Read more 0 Read more
page 08 page 12

06 | Auto Trader Group plc Annual Reportand Financial Statements 2019



Growth

horizons

Our position as the leading
digital automotive
marketplace provides
multiple horizons for
growth with our customers
over time.

We have identified three horizons
of growth to help achieve our
strategy. These horizonsarein
ourcore marketplace, adjacent

markets and long-term future
opportunities.

Our growth
horizons

_—
<

Growth horizon1

Core

Our core marketplace continues

to offerastrong runway for growth,
underpinned by continuous
improvement of the car

buying experience.

—
o

Growth horizon 2

Adjacent
Identification of adjacent
opportunitiesinnew car
salesand the wayinwhich our
customers source vehicles.

_—
/

Growthhorizon3

Future

The evolution of both our
products and consumer
experience aims to keep
consumersonline forlonger
throughout the buyingjourney.

e Read more
page 14

Ovur
strategy

We have continued to make
progress against all three of
our strategic pillars in 2019.

We have made improvements to
our core car buyingjourney, our
company values and the wayin
which we work as an organisation.
We have also entered other parts
of the automotive ecosystem,
around new car salesand the
way inwhich our customers
source vehicles.

Our strategic
pillars
Improve
% car buying
inthe UK
Evolve the
’\ automotive
@‘_ ecosystem
inthe UK
Become
= the most
admired
° UK digital
business
0 Read more
page18

Key performance

indicators

We have identified the
following key performance
indicators to track
performance.

We have adopted the new accounting
standard for Leases ('IFRS16") from
1April 2018, using the fully retrospective
approach,andhave restatedall prior
year periods. We have also replaced
cross platform minutes as measured
by comScore with ourowninternal
tracking for cross platformvisits.

Financial Operational

Revenue Cross platform visits

£355.Im 49.1m

monthly average
acrossallour
platforms

Average Revenue Advertviews

Per Retailer (‘ARPR’) 2 39m
£1,844 average per month

permonth

Operating profit Number of retailer

forecourts
£243.7m 13,240

average permonth

Basic EPS Number of full-time
equivalent
21 .00 hp employees (‘FTEs’)
pence per share
804

average number
(including
contractors)

Live car stock

461,000

average permonth

Cash generated
fromoperations

£258.5m

e Read more

pages 20-23
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The ecosystem
we operatein

The automotive ecosystem

The automotive market is complex and often inefficient.
There are multiple participants and unsurprisingly
consumers can find the process of buying or selling
acaroverwhelming.

Through Auto Trader products, services and partnerships,
we aim to significantly improve the car buying experience,
as well as leverage our existing relationships to improve
further parts of the value chain.

Dispose

New car
leasing Banks, lenders

and brokers

Car buying
S EINES

Manufacturers

% Insurers,

S underwriters and
TS K — . S
comparison sites
Part-exchange P

T Source

3.3m 3.3m 300«

part-exchanges estimated carsauctioned through cars boughtdirectly from
betweenretailers and both physicaland online consumers by car buying
consumers eachyear channelseachyear schemes eachyear
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Transactions declined in both the new and
used car markets in 2019. Despite this decline,
prices were buoyant and finance penetration
continued to grow.

12-month rolling new car registrations
(%)
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12-month rolling used car transactions
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Auto Trader Retail Price Index
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® Year-on-year mix growth for the month
Average price of a trade car for the month

New and used car market

10.2 million car transactions took place in the 12 months
to March 2019, according to the Society of Motor
Manufacturersand Traders (SMMT), driven by a growing
number of vehiclesin the UKand carowners changing
theircaronaverage every 3.4 years. The total UK car
parc continues to grow, increasing by justunderi%to
349 millioncars'.

The SMMT reported new car sales declinedin the

12 months to March 2019 by 3.7%, giving a total number
of 2.3 millionregistrations during the period. Used car
transactions also declined over the 12-month period,
albeitatalesserrate of 0.9%,as 7.9 million transactions
were made.

Particularly impacting the number of new car
registrations, the new Worldwide Harmonised Light
Vehicle Test Procedure (WLTP) came into effectin
September 2018, and was felt across the market as
manufacturers struggled to maintain the supply of
compliant vehiclesinto their retailer networks.

The Auto Trader Retail Price Index, which tracks the
average trade retail price of aused car onalike-for-like
basis, stripping out the impact of changes in the mix of
carsbeing sold, shows that prices remain buoyant
across the marketincreasing over the12-month period
to March 2019 by 3.5%. Petroland alternatively fuelled
vehiclesincreased by 4.9%and 3.6% respectively,and
dieselincreased by 2.5%. The average price of aused
carthroughout the period was £12,520.

Looking ahead, industry predictions suggest that new
cartransactions will decline againin 2019, although ata
slowerrate than was seenin 2018. The used car market
typically sees less volatility and therefore similarly we
anticipate only asmalldeclineinthe number of used
carsalesin2019.

UK economy and Brexitimplications

The UK economy continues to performresiliently despite
the path of Brexitremaining unclear. It grew by 0.5%in

the three months to March 2019, following arise of 0.2%
during the final quarter of 2018. GDP growth across 2018
was 1.4%, whilst UK inflation was1.9%in March 2019,
unchanged from February 2019. This remains close to
January’s two-year low, whichis helping consumers to
maintain their spending power.

Inaddition, wages were 3.3% higher in the three months to
the end of March and UKunemployment has fallento a
45-year low, reducing by 65,000 in the three months to
March to1.3 million. The continuing low level of interest
rates has provided consumers with attractive car finance
dealsand given some support to the new car market.

Nevertheless, the Bank of England hasinrecent months
downgradedits outlook for UK real GDP growth toits
weakest since the financial crisis, largely as aresult of
heightened uncertainty related to Brexit. There were,
however,some upgradesin the Bank's forecasts with
expectations for 2021 nudged higher from1.7% to1.9%.
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Market overview continued

We do not foresee anyissues with Brexit
affecting our ability to provide our services,
and we do not anticipate thatit will materially
change our costbase. As we have said
previously, the form of any Brexit dealis likely
toaffect Auto Trader only as muchasit
impacts onboth generallevels of consumer
confidence and the supply of new carsinto
the UK market. If the average price of acar
increases and consumer confidence levels
decrease, thereisapotentialimpacton the
number of car transactions. This would likely
impactourretailers’ profitability and their
ability to spend on our marketplace.

Not new, not used but next car

As carbuyersbecome more opento either
anew orused carandindeedbetweena
traditional combustion engine versus an
alternatively fuelled one, one thing remains:
they wantto search for theirnext caronline.
Recentresearch conducted by Acacia
Avenue suggests that consumers want to
doatleasti4differenttasksonline. These
tasksvary fromthe start of the journey
where consumers are considering the
generaltypes of carto focus on, choosing to
buy new orused, choosing the brand(s) of
car,and subsequently slimming this choice
downto find aspecific dealer to visit.

Consumers are often opentoanew carwhen
starting their buying journey, but the majority
don’tknow what new cars are for sale, how
much they cost, whether they'rein budget, or
how soon they’llbe available. It's estimated
that there are over120,000 physicalnew cars
already manufactured and delivered to the
UK, but that are effectively hidden from
consumers. The current consumer buying
journey foranew carignores these readily
available vehicles and sends the consumer
down aconfiguration journey, which often
resultsinawait of severalmonths to take
delivery of the vehicle. At this point the
consumer may be offered the alternative
optionof acarthatisavailable in the UK for
saleimmediately, but thereisusually a
compromise onthe specification, which can
lead to dissatisfaction. Our proposition for
new cars aims to surface these brand-new
physical vehicles, available to buy and take
delivery of now, toin market car-buyers.

1 Societyof Manufacturersand Traders (SMMT)

2 BasedondatafromFinance & Leasing Association
(FLA), March 2019

Auto Trader Market Report, September 2018

4 AutoTrader Market Report, March 2018

w

Auto Traderis, by some distance, the UK's
largestand mostinfluential website for new
carpurchases. Infact, 70% of consumers
would use Auto Trader to search for their
nextnew car. Therefore, we have recently
updated our search experience on

Auto Trader so car buyers cannow choose
fromnew orusedinone place, without the
need to make atrade-off ontheirideal next
car. Our marketplace, as at 31 March 2019,
featured over 30,000 physical brand new
carsforsale.

Finance fuelling car ownership

The ubiquity of car finance optionsinthe
form of Personal Contract Plans (PCP), Hire
Purchase (HP) and Personal Contract Hire
(PCH) has been akey catalystin shifting car
buyersaway from traditional car ownership
tomore of an‘access’ or ‘subscription’
modelof owningacar. Inthe12 monthsto
March, over 91% of new cars were purchased
onfinance, with the corresponding number
of justover 30% forused cars, according to
the Finance and Leasing Association (FLA)2.
The growing number of these models will
shape the future relationship between
consumer and car; and therefore willhave
ownershipimplications for bothretailers
and manufacturers. Whilst the traditional
conceptof ‘ownership’,i.e. buyingacar
outrightin cash,isindeed losing popularity,
research we conducted forarecent Market
Report®revealed that 80% of consumers
stillwant to own their car or at least have
exclusive accesstoit. 52% said they wouldn't
consider sharing services; the primary
reasons were anunwillingness to share
(51%),inconvenience (48%) and it not fitting
intolifestyles (43%).

New business models thatallow consumers
toaccessacarinavariety of waysand for
varying time periods have the potential to
grow demand for carsin the shortterm.
They'llalso openup caraccessibility to those
consumers who have not previously been
able toaffordacarorwhodon'twantthe
commitment of owning onein the traditional
sense. That's why we believe the evolution
inownership towards access models will
complement, rather than cannibalise, the
market. Understanding the type of access
consumers want from their carsis perhaps
the key to predicting how this evolutionary
step will shape ourindustry.

5 Auto Trader Brand Tracking conducted by Acacia
Avenue average Brand tracking

6 Auto Trader Brand Tracker conducted by Acacia
Avenue, monthly data

We are the most visited
automotive website with

76%

share of minutes spentacross
automotive classified sites

49.1m

cross platformvisits, we
remain the primary source
forconsumersontheircar
buyingjourney

Lastyear we introduced the ability for
consumers to search by monthly payment,

as 71% of car buyers said paying monthly for
acarwasthekey factorinfluencing their
finance choice*. The move enabledretailers
toadvertise theirmonthly finance priceson
eachvehicle advert,alongside the purchase
price. Thisbenefits both retailers and
consumers. Retailers can promote theirown
finance prices more effectivelyand buyers
cansee exactly whatacarwillcostona
monthly basis, enabling better comparison of
costearlierinthe buyingjourney. Inthe year
ended March 2019, we had over 5,000 retailers
paying todisplay theirown finance,and an
additional 3,500 deciding to use our partner
todisplay monthly pricing. At the end of the
year, thismeant that over 320,000 vehicles
appeared withamonthly price on
Autotrader.co.uk.

Maintaining our competitive position

We continue to evolve and adapt alongside
changing market conditions which means we
remain the UK's largest digitalautomotive
marketplace fornew and used cars. With 49.1
million cross platformvisits, we remain the
primary source for consumers on their car
buyingjourney. The audienceis not only
large but highly engaged with a 76% share of
minutes spentacross automotive classified
sites, five times more than our nearest
competitor,ameasure that has grown from
fourtimesinthe previous year. What's more,
we are also the most trusted automotive
classified brandin the UK. We enjoy 83% and
70% prompted awareness when consumers
thinkabout which brand can help them with
the process of buying or selling aused or
new carrespectively.®
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10.2m

car transactions took of used cars bought
placeinthe market during onfinance

the12 months to March

2019

71
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of car buyers said paying

of consumers stillwant to foracarby monthly
owntheircaroratleast payment was the key
have exclusive access toit factorthatinfluences

their finance choice
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Our business model

Auto Trader is the UK's
largest digital automotive
marketplace

Trusted brand
Auto Trader has operated Auto Trader prompted
asatrustedsource for awareness
UK carbuyersandsellers o
forover40years. 90 A)
of consumers were aware
of Auto Trader forany
mention of new orused car
Data at scale

Auto Trader’'svolume

of vehicle listings and
consumerinteractions
generate significant
quantities of quality data.

Volume of searches
on Auto Trader

139m

average volume of searches

permonthonAuto Trader
by consumers
Scalable
technology
platform
We operate atechnology Software releases
platform thatservesour
core classified marketplace 15,000
andis capable of in2019

supporting new growth
opportunities and
third parties.

People and
culture

Our values-led culture

has createdafast-moving,
collaborative and
community-minded
company which can quickly
respond to marketchanges
and opportunities.

Number of full-time
equivalentemployees
(including contractors)

804

onaveragein2019

Cash generation

The highly cash
generative nature of the
businessallowsusto
investinlong-term growth
drivers of the business.

Cash generated from
operations

£258.5m

Activities generating value

Akey component of our network effect
modelis having the most comprehensive
selection of both new and used stock for
consumers to consider when shopping
foravehicle.

Auto Trader has the largest consumer audience
andis consistently investingin

the online experience. Thisis achieved through
anagile product development

and delivery approach.

Our customer-operation teams of over
350 employees provide proactive support
andinsight toretailerand manufacturer
customers, helping them target the
largest consumer audienceinthe
mostimpactful way.

Behind the Company's strong network
effect modelisaframework that ensures

consumers, customers, employees and
shareholderinterests are upheld.
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Ourtrusted brand has been established for over 40 years,andin that
time we have built a network of highly engaged consumers searching
over 450,000 used cars fromadiverse retailer base. These carsare
largely supplied by retailers,as wellas a small proportion from
consumers, which are thenadvertised on our marketplace, the most

effective automotive sales platform.

This createsanetworkeffectmodel - aself-perpetuating cycle
where greater volumes of stock attractalarger, more engaged
audience, generating a greater volume of sales, whichin turn fuels
more stock. Underpinning this network effect modelis large amounts
of datawe collect,as wellas continualinvestmentin our platform,

marketing, insight and customer relationships.

Make car buying easier

Consumer visits

49.1m

average permonth

Through the introduction of our new dealer finance
product,and the evolution of our full page advert view,
where we have brought together more aspects of “the
deal”. As wellas this we have seen greater usage of our
valuation products andincreased the number of dealer
and expertreviews, which gives greater transparency to
the UK car buying experience.

Improving retailer and
manufacturer businesses

Package penetration

19+

of retailer car stockis advertised
using our two highest level packages
as of March 2019

With the continued evolution of our data-driven Managing
products, we've provided retailers with

the necessary tools to manage their forecourts more
efficiently, focusing particularly on price positionand
speed of sale.

Our prominence products, whichinclude higher level
advertising packages and our InSearch product, give
manufacturers and retailers the opportunity to gain greater
standout on our marketplace.

Delivering sustainable
revenue and profit growth

Operating profit

£243.7m

Through a combination of new productinitiatives, pricing
and strong cost control we look to consistently deliver
long-term growth of both revenue and profit. We're
committed to our proactive approach of returning capital
toshareholders.

Investing in our people,
culture and community

Donated to charity

£212k

We have a strong purpose-driven culture, withabold
approachtosocietalissues, such as diversity andinclusion.
Our company values see us make continued investmentin
both ouremployees and the community

inwhichwe operate.
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Our pOSitiOﬂ asthe leading dlgltal Our three strategic pillars are the foundations with which
automotive marketplace provides we build towards our overall purpose; these are:
multiple horizons for growth

with our customers over time.

Improve car
buyingin the UK

Evolve the automotive
ecosystemin the UK

Become the
most admired UK
digital business

> Readmore

We look to execute on our purpose and strategic pillars
by thinking about growth opportunitiesin three horizons:

/ Our core marketplace

continues to offerastrong
runway for growth, underpinned
) by continuousimprovement
Growth horizon1 . .
of the car buying experience
Core and helping retailersimprove

their profitability.

/ We've identified adjacent
opportunities to our core

’ marketplacein new car sales

. and the wayin which our
Growth horizon 2 . .
. retailers source vehicles. We
Adjacent believe the scale of our
consumer audience and our
relationships with retailers
and manufacturers help create
these opportunities.

/ The evolution of both our
products and our consumer
experience aims to keep
consumers online for
longer throughout the
buyingjourney.

Growth horizon3
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Growth horizon1

_—
-

Core

Our core marketplace continues to offera strong
runway for growth, underpinned by continuous
improvement of the car buying experience and
helping retailers improve their profitability.

sluawelew]e!oueu!j‘ 30UBUIBACD ‘ jiodasoigarens ‘

Continually enhance our core

There remains amismatch betweenused
carretailing costsand the wayin which
consumers are shopping for their next
vehicle. Throughout financial year 2019 we
have introduced products to help retailer
customers better targetin-market car buyers.
We have grown penetration of our higher-level
advertising packages, which attract greater
levels of response from consumers. We
monetised our Dealer Finance product, which
surfacesaretailers' finance pricing earlierin
the buyingjourney. This producthelps
consumersarrive at the forecourtbetter
informed on what their next vehicle purchase
islikely tobe, helping make the actual
forecourtexperience more efficient.

We have also overhauled and relaunched
ourdata-driven Managing products to help
retailersimprove their price position and
speed of sale, thereby lowering theimpact
of depreciationand discounting.

The industry willbecome more
digital and offline costs will reduce.
Auto Trader will be fundamental to
this change through:

— maintaining leadership with carbuyers
— moving the carbuying processonline

— providing products, dataand
services that deliverahigher ROl to
ourretailers than the offline
alternatives they use today

Online share of Split of retailer used Opportunity to drive
research time gross margin down retailer costs
and growth profit

15% profit

70% online

75% offline

30% offline

10% online

- £0.4bn Digital marketing

£0.2bn Offline marketing

£2.0bn staff

£0.5bnDep
£0.4bn Property

£0.3bn Other

Alunyioddo
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Growth horizon 2

/

-

£2.0bn
2018 UK Automotive
Digital Advertising

!

offline

digitalother

digitaldisplay

Auto Trader

digital search

Source of stock for used car
transactions sold by trade
customersin2018 (m)

3.3 Part-
exchanges

O

(9
,'b\(\
o

Transactions
Unwanted

Retailers

Consumers

Adjacent

We've identified adjacent opportunities to our core marketplace
in new car sales and the way in which our retailers source vehicles
to sellon their forecourts. We believe the scale of our consumer
audience and our relationship with retailers and manufacturers

help create these opportunities.

Become to new cars
what we are inused

We estimate there was c.£2.0bn spenton
automotive advertising in the UKin 2018
and of that c.£800m-£1bn was spent by
manufacturers promoting new cars.

Financialyear 2019 has seeninvestmentinbotha
new native display product for manufacturers,
calledInSearch,andalso giving franchise retailers
the ability to advertise physicalnew cars on Auto
Trader. Consumers currently shop foranew car
usinganew car configurator. This oftenleads to
frustrationas consumers willhave to waitanumber
of months to take delivery of the vehicle. Our
propositioninforms consumers which new cars
areimmediately available to buy, including their
associated discounts.

Develop a more efficient way
for retailers to source, dispose
and move vehicles

There are c.3.3 million B2B transactions per year,
fuelledin part by the c.3.3 million part-exchanges
that occur when a consumer purchases avehicle.

In 2019, Auto Trader entered into ajointventure with
Cox Automotive UK, to provide aleading digital
marketplace for wholesale vehiclesin the UK,
under the brand Dealer Auction.

CoxAutomotive UK has transferred both
Dealer-Auction.com, which offersanonline auction
of trade-invehicles from UK franchise dealers, and
Manheim Online, the online remarketing services
division of Cox Automotive UK, to the joint venture,
while Auto Trader has transferredits Smart Buying
business (formally known as Autotrade-mail), its
retailer-to-retailer platform.

The new Dealer Auction platform will provide a
digitalled low cost B2B platform thatis data-driven
toimprove profitability forvendorsandretailersin
asingle marketplace with easy access to additional
services,such as logistics and wholesale funding
provided by partners. Since formation, Dealer
Auction has transacted over 30,000 vehiclesand
advertised anadditional 58,000 vehicles through
the Smart Buying platform.

Leveraging Auto Trader's large in-market
consumer audience, we believe we have a
big role in helping manufacturers and their
franchises sell new cars.

Today we generate just over £20 million from
manufacturersand theiragencies, but we
believe we can take amore meaningfulshare
of new caradvertising, by doing the following
things welland consistently:

— delivering the best UK new car buying
experience

— continue to grow the choice and quality of
physicalnew carinventory

— mobile-led advertising products with greater
scaleandtargeting

— deepeningrelationships and perceptions
with manufacturersand theiragencies

Sourcing vehicles is one of our customers’
biggest challenges and the costs canbe
significant. Through ourjoint venture we are
looking to grow the online auction marketin
severalways:

— Ouronline marketplace will be national,
whereas the existing physicalauction
market revolves aroundregional centres

— Using Auto Trader's digital relationship with
retailers we're able to target potential
auction buyersand, following purchase,
create aprocess where avehicle canbe
advertised quicker to consumers using
Autotrader.co.uk

— We will power the search experience using
Auto Trader's unique metrics thatinform
retailers the vehicles thatareindemandin
theirareaand provide specification adjusted
valuations to guide their buying decisions

— The pricing of Dealer Auction, particularly
forbuyers’ fees, willbe cheaper than those
currently paid at physicalauctions

— We will continue to grow our logistics
marketplace, Motor Trade Delivery
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Growth horizon 3

/
/
/

"

The elements to deliver an
end-to-end online transaction

Guaranteed

Future

The evolution of both our products and our
consumer experience aim to keep consumers
online for longer throughout the buying journey.

Help consumers

transact online
Recentresearch suggests there
is growing appetite for a greater
online journey from consumers
whenit comes to car buying.

In 2019, Auto Trader has shown monthly prices
onitsadverts,increased the volume of
dealerreviewsandin the last few months
launched amore comprehensive vehicle
checkproduct, all giving greater confidence
to carbuyers. Inthe next three years, much of
our product developmentis focused around
adeeperonlinejourney. We have the
experience, resources and technology to
continue leadinginnovationin the UK
automotive marketplace.

/ part-exchange Vehicle Car history

Online
payment

finance check

Price

indicator Vehicle

delivery

There are several elements to an online
journey and we have made good progressin
2019, with the next areas of focus being:

— We currently show arecommended
part-exchange guide price for consumers,
but believe we need a way to guarantee this
price forconsumers

— Ourfinance productis currently an
advertisement of the monthly price,
however thereisaneedtodevelop the
application processand help consumers
understand eligibility

— Auto Trader owns a logistics marketplace,
however the concept of home deliveryis not
well established

— Theability to take a full online payment or
deposit,including the finance approval,
would berequired

Deposits &
online finance
application

Dealer
reviews
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Our strategy

To be the UK’s leading digital
automotive marketplace

Strategic pillars

Focus areas

Improve
car buying
inthe UK

Evolve the
automotive

ecosystem
inthe UK

Become
the most
admired
UK digital
business

(1]

Maintain the best
consumer experience
for buying and selling
vehicles

The largest and most engaged consumer audience,
shopping for their next vehicle, underpins our network
effect marketplace model. We continue toinvestin the
onsite experience and the tools available to consumers
to help them make the mostinformed decisions.

2]

Create and maintain
high-performing,
data-orientated
teams

The successfuldevelopmentand scale of our products
andservices comes downto our people, our most
importantasset. We consistentlyinvestin our people’s
developmentandworkhard to ensure we have a
diverse andinclusive workforce. Datais fundamental
to decision making within the organisationand we
constantly strive toimprove our capability inthis area.

(3]

Grow ARPRina
balanced and
sustainable way,
by creating value
for our customers

Average Revenue Per Retailer ('ARPR’) is akey
determinant of revenue, with 83% of Group revenue
coming fromretailer customers. Growthin ARPRIis
splitintothree levers: price, stockand product.

WA

(4]

Improve stock choice,
volumes, accuracy and
transparencyin both
new and used vehicles

Stockisakey partof our network effect model.
Itisvitallyimportant we maintain our leadership
positionacrossdifferent profiles, including: age, price,
make/modelandregion,across bothnewandused
vehicles. We aimtoreplicatein new cars the success
we have achievedinused cars. Allour stockis
underpinned by our extensive vehicle taxonomy.

A

(5]

Develop amore efficient
way forretailers to
source, dispose and
move vehicles

Aconsistentpainpoint forretailersis how they currently
source vehicles outside of consumer part-exchanges.
Through market researchit shows a challenge exists to
find quality stock, withina specific stocking policy, at
competitive prices whilst also maintaining margin.
Disposing of and moving vehiclesinacost effective
manner canalso be challenging, with many retailers
wedded toone supplier.

WA

0

Extend our product
offering further down
the buying funnel,
towards online
transactions

Ourresearch suggests thereisagrowing desire to
complete more aspects of the car buyingjourney online.
We continue tolook at the various component parts
which might make up that transaction journey and how
we might offerthose on Auto Trader, extending the time
consumers currently spend online shopping for new
andused vehicles.
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2019 progress

_—

_— _—

o

Growth horizon1 Growth horizon2 Growth horizon3

Relevantrisks

Future

How we measure progress

Improvements made to search listings
andthe full page advertview have
helpedimprove the onsite experience.
We have maintained share of minutes
spentonautomotive classified sites
and grown cross platformyvisits as
measured by Google Analytics.

o Failure toinnovate: disruptive technologies and changing
consumer behaviours: If we fail to adapt to changing consumer
behaviour, we could be surpassedin offering the best
consumer experience by competitors.

e IT systems and cyber security: Significant downtime oradata
breach, resultinginreputational damage, couldresultinaloss
of consumer trustin our marketplace.

@ Reliance onthird parties: Disruption or downtime froma
supplier could resultinapoorconsumer experience.

- Fullpage advertviews
- Crossplatformvisits

The number of employees has
marginally declined year-on-year,
although this was partlyimpacted
through the transfer of 1I5employees
toournewjointventurein Q4. We

have improved our data capabilities,
resultinginthe launch of newiterations
of ourdata-driven Managing products.

© '7systemsand cybersecurity: The datawe hold on our
employees must be stored securely. Compliance training
mustalsobe completed annually by allemployees.

@ tmployees: Allour office locations are seeingincreased
levels of competition for talent.

- Operating profit

- Operating profit margin

- Number of full-time equivalent
employees (‘FTEs’)

ARPR saw growth of £149in 2019.

The main contributor to thiswas the
successful execution of ourannual
pricing eventand the monetisation

of ournew Dealer Finance product.
Upselltoouradvancedand premium
advertising packages also contributed

@ cconomy, market and business environment: Reduced
transactions and lower dealer profitability could lower the
propensity fordealers to buy our products.

o Failure toinnovate: disruptive technologies and changing
consumer behaviours: Inability to react to market disruption
could limit our ability to grow our product lever revenue.

- Revenue

- Operating profit

- Operating profit margin

- Number of retailer forecourts

- Average Revenue Per Retailer
("ARPR’)

¢ duotl th.O ia - Live stock
s?gglzlg(/%rwas?/grr glgg\ﬁ/ ne 2{152' e IT systems and cyber security: Significant downtime oradata
d g yneg ' breach, resultingin reputationaldamage, couldresultinaloss
ue toHipressure onsupply. of customer confidence.
@ Reliance on third parties: Significant downtime or disruption

duetoathird party could lead toloss of value to customers,

potentially resulting in lower product uptake.
Live stockon Auto Trader grew 2%in - Live stock

2019, with the growth coming through
theintroduction of our physical new car
product. Underlying used car stock saw
asmalldeclineyear-on-year,inline with
used car transactionvolumes.

0 Economy, market and business environment: Reduced new
andused car transactions could lead to lower volumes of
stock forsaleinthe market.

- Number of retailer forecourts

InDecember 2018 we completeda
jointventure with Cox Automotive

UK to provide adigital online auction
marketplace. Auto Trader contributed
abusiness called Smart Buying to
complementthe Coxowned Dealer
Auction, the brand under which the
JVwilloperate,and abusiness called
Manheim Online.

o Failure toinnovate: disruptive technologies and changing
consumer behaviours: The way in whichretailers source,
dispose and move their vehiclesis currently inefficient
andrequiresinnovation to significantlyimprove the
existing processes.

@ Reliance onthird parties: The delivery of improvementsin
how retailers source, dispose and move vehiclesis likely to
rely onagreaternumber of partnerships with third parties.

- Operating profit
- Operating profit margin

In 2019 we monetised our dealer
finance product which allows
consumers to consider their finance
pricing earlierinthe buyingjourney.
We also evolved our full page advert
to bring the part-exchange guide
pricing and finance quoteintoa
moreintegratedjourney.

o Failure toinnovate: disruptive technologies and changing
consumer behaviours: If we failtoinnovateinthisarea, itis
likely that we willmiss the significant opportunityin bringing
more of the buyingjourney online and potentially have our
existing modelundermined.

o Reliance onthird parties: The delivery of more components
of anonline transaction journey s likely torely ona greater
number of partnerships with third parties.

- Revenue

- Operating profit

- Operating profitmargin

- Number of retailer forecourts

- Average Revenue Per Retailer
("ARPR’)

Risk that applies to all focus areas

9 Brand: Failure to protect our brand could resultina
reductioninaudience, which would limit our ability to
executeonallfocusareas.
Increased competition: It's possible that audience,

customers, employeesandinnovation could all be
impacted byimprovements from our competitors.

Measures that apply
toall focus areas

- Basic EPS
- Cash generated from operations
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Key performance indicators

Financial

Revenue

£m

£355.Im

Average Revenue
Per Retailer (‘ARPR’)

£permonth

£1,844

Operating profit (¢ )

£m

£243.7m

+8% +£149 +10%
2019 2019 69% Maréin mm
2018 2018
2017 2017
Relevant focus areas Relevant focus areas Relevant focus areas
00 00 00000
Definition Definition Definition

The Group generates revenue fromthree
different streams: Trade, Consumer
Servicesand Manufacturerand Agency.
Tradeisbrokendowninto three
categories: Retailer,Home Traderand
Other, with Consumer Services similarly
splitinto Private and Motoring Services.

Progress

Revenueincreased 8% year-on-year, with
the maindriver of growth being our
Retailer line, supported by Manufacturer
and Agency. This growth was slightly
offsetbyadecreasein Consumer
Services, largely asaresult of declining
private listings.

Average Revenue Per Retailer ('ARPR') is
calculated by taking the average monthly
revenue generated fromretailer
customersanddividing by the average
monthly number of retailer forecourts
who subscribe toan Auto Trader
advertising package.

Progress

ARPR grew £149 in the year. Growth was
largely a function of the product lever
through: furtherupsell to our higher-level
packages; the monetisation of our new
Dealer Finance product; expanding the
productsincluded within our packages to
include stock exports andimproved
dealerlanding pages; and small growthin
the volume of customers paying fora
data-driven Managing product. Growth
was further bolstered by anunderlying
priceincrease, which was slightly

offset by ayear-on-year declineinour
stocklever.

Operating profitisasreportedin the
Consolidatedincome statement on page
83. Thisisdefined asrevenue less
administrative expenses, plus share of
profit fromjointventures. Operating
profitmarginis Operating profitasa
percentage of revenue. Comparative
periods have beenrestatedtoreflectthe
Group'sadoption of the new accounting
standard for Leases ('IFRS16') from1April
2018 using the fully retrospective
approach.

Progress

Operating profitincreased by 10%
reflecting top line revenue growth of 8%
and wellmanaged costs. Operating profit
alsobenefitted from one quarter of profit,
contributed through our new joint venture,
Dealer Auction. Operating profit margin
sawimprovement, growing by a further

2 percentage points to 69%.

Relevantrisks

0000000

Relevantrisks

0000000

Relevantrisks

0000000

20 | Auto Trader Group plc Annual Reportand Financial Statements 2019



Basic EPS

pence pershare

21.00p

+18%

2019
2018

2017

Cash generated
from operations

£m

£258.5m

+13%

2019

2018 £228.4m

2017

Relevant focus areas Relevant focus areas
00000 00000
Definition Definition

Basic earnings pershareisdefined as
profit for the year attributable to equity
holders of the parent divided by the
weighted average number of sharesin
issue during the year. Comparative periods
have beenrestated toreflect the Group's
adoption of the new accounting standard
forLeases ('IFRS16') from1April 2018 using
the fully retrospective approach.

Progress

Basic EPS growth was18%, demonstrating
the Group’s high operational gearing.
Much of the growth drops through from
growthinnetincome, which benefitted
fromaone-off profitondisposalas we
entered ajoint venture with Cox
Automotive UK. Basic EPS was also
supportedbyareductioninthe weighted
average number of sharesinissue during
the yearasaconsequence of our share

Cashgenerated fromoperationsisas
reportedinthe Consolidated statement
of cash flows onpage 87. Thisis defined

as cash generated from operating
activities, before corporation tax paid.
Thisis considered to be amore meaningful
measure of performance than the
statutory measure of cash generated from
operating activities, which canbe distorted
by changesin funding structure and the
time lag thatapplies to the payment of
corporationtax. Comparative periods
have beenrestatedtoreflectthe Group's
adoption of the newaccounting standard
forLeases ('IFRS16') from1April 2018 using
the fully retrospective approach.

Progress

Cash generated from operations
increasedto £258.5millionintheyear,
giving growth of £30.1 million or13%. This

buyback programme. represented a high proportion of profit
convertedinto cash, which was largely
returned to shareholders through
dividends and share buybacks.
Relevant risks Relevant risks

0000000

0000000

Linked to remuneration £

® Directors’ remunerationreport
page 64

Focus areas relevant to our KPIs

@ Maintainthe bestconsumer
experience for buying and
selling vehicles

@ Createandmaintainhigh-performing,
data-orientated teams

© GrowARPRinabalancedand
sustainable way, by creating value
forour customers

O Improve stock choice, volumes,
accuracy andtransparencyinboth
new and used vehicles

9 Develop amore efficient way for
retailers tosource, dispose and
move vehicles

O Extend our product offering further
down the buying funnel, towards
online transactions

®© Our strategy
pages18-19

Risks relevant to our KPIs

@ Economy, marketand
business environment

© Brand
© 'ncreased competition

@ Failure toinnovate: disruptive
technologiesand changing
consumer behaviours

9 IT systems and cyber security
@ Employeeretention

@ Reliance onthird parties

® Principalrisks and uncertainties
pages 30-34
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Key performance indicators

Operational

Cross platform visits

Monthly average visits spentacrossall
platforms (millions)

49.1m

Advertviews e

Average number per month (millions)

239m

Number of retailer
forecourts

Average number permonth

13,240

+1% =-3% +0%

2019 239m 2019

2018 246m 2018

2017 247m 2017
Relevant focus areas Relevant focus areas Relevant focus areas
Definition Definition Definition

Monthly average visits made across all
our platforms,as measured by Google
Analytics.

Progress

Cross platformvisits,as measured by
Google Analytics,increased1%
year-on-yearand have been largely flat
overthelasttwoyears. We have changed
from the measure of absolute comScore
minutes due to volatility in the number
which does not correlate withinternal
measures. The valueincomScore liesin
the comparisonto competitors where we
retained our 54% share of visits and over
70% share of minutes across automotive
classified sites.

Whenaconsumer conducts asearchon
Auto Trader, they are presented withalist
of searchresults meeting their search
criteria. The consumer can thenclickinto
anadvertto see the detailed specification
of the vehicle,images, videos and how to
contactthe dealer. This click-through
classifiesasanadvertview.

Progress

2019 has seenaslightdeclineinadvert
views, ataslightly higherrate thanthe
reductionin transactionvolumes, which
were down 0.9%. Throughout the year we
have made improvements to our search
experience, presenting more parts of
the dealonthe advertview, which has
made finding theright car easier.

The average number of retailer
forecourts per month that subscribe to
an Auto Trader advertising package.

Progress

The average number of retailer forecourts
inthe yearwas broadly flat. Previously

we reported two years of modest decline
inretailernumbers, as the overall market
forretailers consolidates eachyear. We
believe this consolidationis continuing,
implying amarginalincrease inour share
of retailer forecourtsintheyear.

Relevantrisks

0000000

Relevantrisks

0000000

Relevantrisks

0000000
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Number of full-time
equivalent employees
(‘FTEs’)

Average number (including contractors)

804

Live car stock e

Average number per month

461,000

-2% +2%

2019 804 2019

2018 824 2018

2017 824 2017

Relevant focus areas Relevant focus areas
Definition Definition

Full-time equivalentemployees are
measured on the basis of the number

of hours worked by full-time employees,
with part-time employeesincluded on
apro-ratabasis. Number of FTEs (which
includes contractors)isreported
internally each calendar month, with the
full-year number being generated from
anaverage of those 12 time periods.

Progress

FTEs have decreased by 2% year-on-year.

The decline was driven by continued
efficiencyinthe organisationandthe
completion of ourjointventure with Cox
Automotive UK, where employees were
transferredinto the JV.

The average number of physical cars
(eithernew orused) thatare advertised
onautotrader.co.uk per month. Live stock
isanimportantcomponent of our network
effectbusiness modeland we charge
ourretailer customersonacost per
advertisedslot basis for theiradvertising
package, making the stock on our website
akey dependency of retailerrevenue.

Progress

Live carstockonsiteincreased by 2%.
This growth was driven by our new
physicalstock product, where Franchise
retailers canlist their physical new cars,
currently for free. Underlying used

car stockwas marginally down, despite
astronger second half, following tight
used car supply atthe beginning of
theyear.

Relevantrisks

0000000

Relevantrisks

0000000

Linked to remuneration £

® Directors’ remunerationreport
page 64

Focus areas relevant to our KPIs

@ Maintainthe bestconsumer
experience for buying and selling
vehicles

@ Createandmaintainhigh-performing,
data-orientated teams

© GrowARPRinabalancedand
sustainable way, by creating value
forour customers

O Improve stock choice, volumes,
accuracy andtransparencyinboth
new and used vehicles

9 Develop amore efficient way for
retailers tosource, dispose and
move vehicles

G Extend our product offering further
down the buying funnel, towards
online transactions

®© Our strategy
pages18-19

Risks relevant to our KPIs

@ Economy, marketand business
environment

© Brand
© 'ncreased competition

@ Failure toinnovate: disruptive
technologiesand changing consumer
behaviours

9 IT systems and cyber security
@ Employeeretention

@ Reliance onthird parties

® Principalrisks and uncertainties
pages 30-34
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Operating and financial review

a1

Against a backdrop

of general market
uncertainty, lam
pleased to report on
another excellent year
for the business.”

Nathan Coe
Chief Financial Officerand
Chief Executive Officer-designate

Operational review

70%

of consumers would use Auto Trader
to help thembuyabrand-new car

78

of consumers would use Auto Trader
to help thembuyausedcar

Introduction

Against abackdrop of general market
uncertainty,lam pleasedtoreporton
another excellentyear for the business,
both froman operationaland financial
perspective. We continue toinvestin both
our products and experience, ensuring that
we're continually adding value to our
consumers, retailers and manufacturers,
aswellas being focused ondriving
efficiencies across our businessand
delivering returns to shareholders.

Enhancing the car buying experience
Consumersare carrying out more of their car
buying research online. We commissioned
some independentresearch which found
that 52% of consumers who had already
started their car buying process claimed to
consider the cost of acarasamonthly price,
rather than the full retail price. We therefore
offer functionality so that consumers can
search by monthly payment whilst allowing
retailers the option to display their finance
pricing to the UK's largest car buying
audience earlierin their car buyingjourney.
This Dealer Finance product was monetised
withretailers as part of ourannual pricing
event with over 5,000 retailers now paying to
advertise their finance offers. Inaddition to
this, over 3,500 retailers chose to appearin
monthly search by advertising finance rates
provided by our third-party partner.

Thisyear we have also made asignificant
step forwardinnew cars, launching a
stock-based productallowing retailers to
upload physically available new cars at
currentretail prices, much the same way as
they have been doing for decades with their
used car stock. We had over 30,000 of these
physicalnew cars onsite at the end of the
financialyear,and there’s stillroom for
growth as we estimate thatthere are an
additional 90,000 of these cars that exist
today butare notactively being advertised
anywhere. Both consumers andretailers
are showing strong appetite for the new

car offering, however the technicaland
operationalchallengesto getthese cars
online have proven to be high. At present we
are offering this product on a free trial basis.
We intend to commence charging for the
product during the course of the coming
financialyear.

Our highest two levels of advertising
packages, Advanced and Premium, continue
to gainrecognition fromretailers. These
higheryielding packages allow retailers

to pay for greater prominence on our
marketplace, which drives a higher volume
of advertviews whichin turnenables

those carstosell faster.
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Despite atougher new car market,
manufacturers and agencies continue to see
thevalueinour marketplace to advertise
theirnew cars to consumers, with spend up
by 18%. However the short-term challenges
faced by both of these customer types did
impact our growthinthe second half of the
year. Our fastest growing productis InSearch
which allows manufacturers toreachand
influence car buyersinahighly targeted
fashion.

We continue toinvestin our data products
and during the year we completely
relaunched new ‘Managing’ products, Retail
CheckandRetail Accelerator (formerly
knownasi-Control). The new products
representasignificant enhancement with
new andimproved data, analytics, design,
reporting and goal setting. The number

of retailer forecourts using one of these
products at the end of the year was 3,200
(2018:3,000). Over 39% of trade stockis
managed using one of these dataintelligence
solutions, which are now hosted on
mobile-friendly platforms. We now provide
richer valuation dataand a proprietary Retail
Rating which takes account of supply and
demand, enabling retailersto getamore
accurate view of how their stock will perform
onthe live retail market. Building on the
success of its predecessor, i-Control, Retail
Acceleratortakesaretailer's business goals
and creates adaily actionplanaligned to
theirdesired stock turnand margin. It
enables them to manage theirinventory more
effectively by constantly tracking changing
market conditions and delivering alerts on
valuation changes, incorrect pricing and
ageing stock, as wellas dynamic
performancereporting toimprove retailers'
competitive position.

Asatechnology business we are
constantlyimproving our core platform
andinfrastructure which are key enablers
of ourapproachto software and product
development. Thisyear we have investedin
new public cloud-based solutions enabling
security, resilience andimportantly speed
whenitcomestoreleasing software. Over
the lastyear we havereleased three times as
many software updates, achieving15,000in
the year. Using the public cloud has also
enabled ustoincrease the visibility of
application performance enabling us to
highlightandrectifyissuesinapplications
quickly to avoid customerimpacts.

We continue toinvestin marketing to keep
our brand front of mind with consumers,
ensuring they are fully aware of all our
available products to help make their
purchase of anew orused car easier

and amore enjoyable experience.

Anindependent brand tracker currently
suggests that 78% of consumers would use
Auto Trader to help thembuy aused carand
70% would use Auto Trader to help them buy a
brand-new car. One of thisyear's campaign
highlights was a social campaign called
ATGoals whichranduring the Football World
Cupand gave fansachance towinacar
everytime England scored agoalin the
tournament. The award-winning campaign
culminatedinalive TV screening of the
semi-final game in our home city of
Manchesterand was viewed by over

27 million people.

The largest automotive marketplace

We continue to operate the UK's largest
digitalautomotive marketplace and we
have maintained our market leading
audience position by a significant margin.
Alarge proportion of ouraudienceis
unique to Auto Trader,and consumers are
more engaged with our platforms
comparedtoany otherautomotive site.

-
l

Average monthly cross platformvisits
increased by 1% to 49.1million (2018: 48.7
million). We will now report, where possible,
ourowninternal dataas measured by Google
Analytics to ensure anaccurate picture of
the cross platform traffic driven to our
marketplace. We have grown our market
share of time spent onautomotive portals
as measured by Comscore to 76%(2018: 75%),
whichis more than five times that of our
nearestcompetitor. Advertviews saw
modest declineinline with broader

market trends.

The level of live stock on our site has
increased by 2%intheyear, as the average
number of cars on the marketplacerose to
461,000 (2018:453,000). The growth was
drivenbynew cars, through our newly
launched product, withasmalldeclinein
used carvolumes which were impacted by
supply side tightening at the beginning of the
financialyear. The average number of retailer
forecourts using our marketplace remained
stable, increasingslightly to 13,240
(2018:13,213).
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Operating and financial review continued

Financial review

Revenue

£355.1m

+8%

(2018: £330.1m)

Operating profit

£243.7m
+10%

(2018 restated: £221.3m)

Cash generated from operations

£258.5m

+13%

(2018 restated: £228.4m)

Cashreturned to shareholders

£151.1m

(2018: £148.4m)

2019 2018

Revenue £m £m Change
Retailer 293.0 268.7 9%
Home trader 10.2 1.4 (11%)
Other 14 11 27%
Trade 304.6 281.2 8%
Consumer Services 28.0 29.8 (6%)
Manufacturerand Agency 22.5 191 18%
Total 355.1 3301 8%
Revenue Areductioninthe number of new cars

In 2019, we saw another strong year of
revenue growth at 8%, climbing to £355.1m
(2018: £330.1m), predominantly through
Trade revenue, and more specifically
Retailer revenue, as our core business
continued to grow.

Trade revenue - comprising Retailers, Home
Tradersandotherrevenue -increased by 8%
to£304.6m (2018: £281.2m). Retailerrevenue
grew 9%t0 £293.0m (2018: £268.7m), driven
by the launch of new products, ourannual
pricing eventand further penetration of
higheryielding advertising packages.
Average Revenue Per Retailer (‘ARPR’)
improved by £149 to £1,844 per month (2018:
£1,695). Average retailer forecourts were
stable, withamarginalincrease in the year
t013,240(2018:13,213).

ARPR growth of £149 per month was broken
downas followsinto our three levers: price,
stockand product.

— Price: Our price lever contributed £50
(2018: £43) and 34% (2018: 29%) of total
ARPR growth. We executed our annual
event for the vast majority of customers
on1April2018 whichincluded a like-for-like
priceincrease.

— Stock: Asmallcontractioninstock had
anegative effect on ARPR growth of
£22(2018: positive effect of £20) and was
-15% (2018: +13%) of total ARPR growth.

registered, lowervolumes of pre-
registrationand some consumer
uncertainty led to alack of used car supply
inthe market during the first half of the
year. Retailer stock has seen some level of
recovery through the second half of the
year although the marketis still challenging.

Product: Our productlever contributed £121
(2018: £86) and 81% (2018: 58%) of total ARPR
growth. Ourannual eventallowed us to
introduce two new products, stock exports
and profile pages, into all package levels
and we also monetised our Dealer Finance
product followingatrial period. Since 1 April
2018, over 5,000 retailers have opted to pay
forthe opportunity to advertise their
finance offersagainst their cars,
representing 70% of all eligible retailers. In
addition, the penetration of our higher
yielding Advanced and Premium advertising
packages has continued to grow as retailers
recognise the value of receiving greater
prominence within our search listings. At
the end of March,19% of retailer cars
advertised were onone of these levels
(March 2018:12%). There was also a small
contribution from our Managing products,
which despite re-platforming and
continued developmentin the year, still saw
growth to 3,200 customers (2018: 3,000).

ARPR levers
(£)

2017 2018

® Price
® Stock
® Product

2019
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Home Trader had a challenging year, declining
11%to £10.2m (2018: £11.4m), as volumes were
impacted by supply constraints, particularly
inolder, less expensive vehicles whichare
oftentradedinthissegmentand we saw
some of these customers move to take up
subscription packages. Otherrevenue
increased 27%to £1.4m (2018: £1.1m).

Consumer Servicesrevenue decreased
6%intheyearto £28.0m (2018: £29.8m).
Private revenue, generated fromindividual
sellerswho pay to advertise their vehicle on
the Group’s website, declined 7% to £20.1m
(2018: £21.6m),impacted by alack of supply
inoldervehicles, agreater propensity to part-
exchange (influenced by the transparency
we have enabled for part-exchange values),
andincreased competition. Motoring
servicesrevenue decreased 4% to £7.9m
(2018: £8.2m), as we discontinued a low
yielding display product, the impact of which
outweighed growth from our finance and
insurance third-party partners.

Manufacturerand Agency revenue grew 18%
t0£22.5m (2018: £19.1m). The level of growth,
which was skewed towards the first half of
theyear, was largely driven by InSearch; our
native performance product which allows
manufacturers to advertise new cars directly
within our main search, providing a highly
targeted way toinfluence in-market car
buyers. Inthe second half of the year we
have seenwhat we believe to be a transient
impactasaresult of the welldocumented
uncertainties resulting from Brexitand cost
pressures facing both car manufacturers
andtheiradvertising agencies.

Administrative expenses

The Group hasadopted IFRS16 ‘Leases’
inthe period, whichimpacts Other costs
and Depreciation & amortisation within
Operating profit. Property and vehicle
rentalchargesare nolongerincludedin
other costs,and depreciation now includes
depreciationon leased assets. Prior period
comparatives have beenrestated to reflect
these changes as the fully retrospective
approach hasbeenused.

Operating costs continue to be well
controlled, with administrative expenses
increasing by 3% to £112.3m (2018 restated:
£108.8m).

People costs, which comprise all staff
costsincluding third-party contractor
costs, increased by 3%inthe yearto £56.4m
(2018: £54.8m). Theincrease in people costs
was driven primarily by underlying salary
costswhichincreased due to strong
competition for digital talent, however this
has been partially offset by areductionin
average full-time equivalent employees
('FTES’) (including contractors) to 804 (2018:
824). The number of FTEs was particularly
impactedinthe fourth quarter by the
transfer of 15 staff to Dealer Auction, our
jointventure with Cox Automotive UK.
Share-based payments, including applicable
nationalinsurance costs of £5.9m (2018:
£3.7m), have beenincluded within people
costs. The year-on-yearincreasein the
share-based paymentcharge was due to
leaversunder the Performance Share Planin
2018 for which a credit wasrecognisedinthe
prioryear,and achange in the way senior
managementare remunerated. The Group
now settles a greater proportion of the
seniormanagementincentive schemein
shares whichincreases the share-based
payment charge with an offsetrealised
within cash bonuses.

Marketing spendincreasedinline with
revenue by 8%to £17.6m (2018: £16.3m),as we
look to maintain and enhance our audience
positionand educate consumers on new
products such as new car offerings and
search by monthly payment.

Other costs, whichinclude data services,
property related costs and other overheads,
remainwell controlled andincreased by

2% on a like-for-like basis to £29.4m (2018
restated: £28.7m).

Depreciation & amortisationremained
broadly flatat £8.9m (2018 restated: £9.0m).
Within this was depreciation of £2.0min

relationtolease assets (2018 restated: £1.9m).

2019 2018’
Costs £m £m Change
People costs 56.4 54.8 3%
Marketing 17.6 16.3 8%
Othercosts 294 28.7 2%
Depreciationand amortisation 8.9 9.0 (1%)
Total administrative expenses 12.3 108.8 3%

1 2018 hasbeenrestated fortheimpact of IFRS16.

Operating profit

Inthe year, Operating profit grew10% to
£243.7m (2018 restated: £221.3m). Operating
profitmarginincreased by two percentage
pointsto 69% (2018 restated: 67%).

On 31 December 2018, following clearance
from the Competition and Markets Authority,
the Group completeditsjoint venture
agreement with Cox Automotive UK Limited.
The new combined business, called Dealer
Auction, provides aleading digital
marketplace for B2B transactionsin

the UK. The Group transferred Smart Buying
(formally known as Autotrade-mail), its
retailer-to-retailer platform, to the joint
venture and paid Cox Automotive UK Limited
£19.7mto hold 49% of the new entity. The
transfer of the business, combined with the
recognition of profits generated by Dealer
Auction from the point of completion, had
the followingimpact on Operating profit:

—areductionin Average Revenue Per Retailer
('ARPR') of £3;

—noeffectoncostsoverall. People costs
reduced by £0.4 million, but were offset
byincreased overheadsresulting from
amounts payable to the joint venture for
continued access to Smart Buying for Auto
Traderi-Controlcustomers; and

— the share of the profit from the joint
venture at £0.9 million.

2019 2018'
Operating profit £m £m Change
Revenue 3551 330.1 8%
Costs (112.3)  (108.8) (3%)
Share of profits from
jointventures 0.9 - n.m
Operating profit 2437 2213 10%

1 2018 hasbeenrestated fortheimpact of IFRS16.
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Operating and financial review continued

Profit before taxation

Profitbefore taxationincreased by 15%to
£242.2m (2018 restated: £210.7m) following
the Operating profit performance, a small
reductioninnetfinance costsat£10.2m
(2018 restated: £10.6m) and a one-off profit
ondisposal of subsidiary of £8.7m created
by the transfer of our Smart Buying business
tothejointventure, Dealer Auction.

InJune 2018, the Group signedinto a five-year
£400m Syndicated revolving credit facility
(the ‘Syndicated RCF') toreplace the
Syndicated Term Loanand the former
revolving credit facility. The new facility
allows the Group greater flexibility to manage
cash flows and allows for furtherreduction
onmargin payable as the Group's leverage
decreases further. Following the year end
the majority of the facility hasbeen extended
foranadditionalyear.

Interest costs on the new Syndicated RCF,
the Syndicated Term Loan and the former
revolving credit facility were £6.5m (2018:
£6.8m)reflecting alower level of drawn debt
offsetbyasmallincreaseinboth LIBOR and
the margin payable given the increased level
of debt flexibility. Amortisation of debtissue
costsof £2.8m(2018: £3.0m) included £2.2m
of accelerated costsrelating to the previous
facility following the decision torefinance
before the termination date of March 2020.
Following the adoption of IFRS 16, finance
costsrelating to leases were £0.9m (2018
restated: £0.8m).

As partof the joint venture enteredinto with
Cox Automotive UK, the Group disposed of
its Smart Buying business, Auto Trader Auto
Stock Limited, for whichitrecognised a profit
ondisposal of £8.7m. The profitrecognised
onthe disposalhasnocashimpactas
considerationwasin the form of sharesin
the newly formed Dealer Auction business.

Taxation

The Group tax charge of £44.5m (2018
restated: £39.6m) represents an effective
taxrate of 18% (2018:19%) which, when
allowing for the profit on disposalabove
which was non-taxable,isinline with the
average standard UK rate and areflection of
our taxation policy toactinaresponsible
and transparentmannerinall tax matters.

Earnings per share

Basicearnings per sharerose by18%to 21.00
pence (2018 restated:17.74 pence) basedona
weighted average number of ordinary shares
inissue of 941,506,424 (2018:964,516,212).
Diluted earnings per share of 20.94 pence
(2018 restated:17.68 pence) increased by
18%, based on 944,254,998 shares (2018:
967,912,689) which takes intoaccount the
dilutive impact of outstanding share awards.

Cash flow and net external debt

Cash generated from operationsincreased
by 13%t0 £258.5m (2018 restated: £228.4m)
and was achievedas aresult of strong
Operating profit with low working capital
requirementsandahighlevel of cash
conversiondriven by a particularly strong
performancein terms of customer
payments and collections.

Corporationtax payments totalled £42.2m
(2018:£39.4m). Net cash generated from
operating activities was £216.3m (2018
restated: £189.0m).

At 31 March 2019 the Group had £313.0m of the
Syndicatedrevolving credit facility drawn

(31 March 2018: £343.0m borrowed under the
former Syndicated Term Loan), representing
anetrepayment of £30.0m (2018: £20.0m
repayment). Leverage, defined as the ratio

of gross borrowings less cash to Adjusted
underlying EBITDA, decreased to1.19x (2018:
1.46x). Interest paid on these financing
arrangements was £6.6m (2018: £6.7m).

Post balance sheet event

On5June 2019, the Group extended the term
for £316.5m of the Syndicated revolving
credit facility for one year. The facility will
now terminate in two tranches: £316.5m will
maturein June 2024; and £83.5m will mature
atthe originaltermination date of June 2023.

Thereisnochangetotheinterestrate
payable and thereis norequirementto settle
all, or part, of the debt earlier than the
termination dates stated.

Capital structure and dividends

During the year, a total of 20.2m shares
(2018:26.8m) were repurchased for a total
consideration of £93.5m (2018: £96.2m)
before transaction costs of £0.5m (2018:
£0.5m). Afurther £57.6m (2018: £52.2m) was
paidindividends, giving a total of £151.1m
(2018: £148.4m) in cashreturned to
shareholders.

The Directors are recommending a final
dividend forthe year of 4.6 pence pershare,
which together with the interim dividend
makes a totaldividend of 6.7 pence per
share,amounting to £62.5m, in line with our
policy of distributing approximately one third
of netincome. Subject to shareholders’
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Operating profit

£243.7m

+10%

(2018restated: £221.3m)

Profit before taxation

£242.2m

+15%

(2018 restated: £210.7m)

Earnings per share

21.00p

+18%

(2018 restated:17.74p)

approval at the Annual General Meeting
('"AGM’) on19 September 2019, the final
dividend will be paid on 27 September 2019 to
shareholders ontheregister of members at
the close of business on 30 August 2019.

The Group's capitalallocation policy
remains unchanged: continuing to invest
inthe business enablingit to grow whilst
returning around one third of netincome
toshareholdersin the form of dividends.
Any surplus cash following these activities
will be used to continue our share buyback
programme and to steadily reduce gross
indebtedness.

Atthe 2018 AGM, the Company'’s
shareholders generally authorised the
Company to make market purchases of up to
94,802,631 0of its ordinary shares, subject to
minimum and maximum price restrictions.

Thisauthority will expire at the conclusion of
the 2019 AGM and the Directorsintend to seek
asimilar generalauthority fromshareholders
atthe 2019 AGM. The programme will be
ongoing,and any purchases of its shares made
by the Companyunderthe programme willbe
affectedinaccordance withthe Company’s
generalauthority torepurchase shares,
Chapteri12 of the UKLA Listing Rules and
relevant conditions for trading restrictions
regarding time and volume, disclosure and
reporting obligations and price conditions.

Contingent liability

The Group previously reported a contingent
liability inrespect of the rate of VAT applicable
toourinsuranceintermediary revenue within
Consumer services, dating back from 2013
onwards. Asreported at the half year,in July
2018 HMRC confirmed the Group's treatment
of insurance intermediary revenue for VAT
purposes was appropriate. The Group did not
incurany liability and the enquiryinrespect of
this matteris now closed.

Nathan Coe

Chief Financial Officerand

Chief Executive Officer-designate
6June 2019
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Principal risks and uncertainties

Identify, evaluate and

manage the Group’s risks

Identify, evaluate and manage the Group’s risks

The Board has carried outarobustassessment of the
principalrisks facing the Group, including those that
would threatenits business model, future performance,
solvency or liquidity.

Thisincluded anassessment of the likelihood and impact
of eachriskidentified,and the mitigating actions being
taken. Risk levels were modified to reflect the current
view of the relative significance of eachrisk.

The principalrisks and uncertaintiesidentified are
detailedinthis section. Additionalrisks and uncertainties
to the Group, including those thatare not currently known
or that the Group currently deemsimmaterial, may
individually or cumulatively also have a material effect on
the Group's business, results of operations and/or
financial condition.

Focus areas that are impacted by our risks

o Maintain the best consumer experience for buying
andselling vehicles

@ Createandmaintain high-performing, data-
orientated teams

€ GrowARPRinabalancedand sustainable way, by
creating value for our customers

@ 'mprove stock choice, volumes, accuracy and
transparencyin both new and used vehicles

6 Develop amore efficient way for retailers to source,
dispose and move vehicles

O Extend our product offering further down the buying
funnel, towards online transactions

1. Economy, market and
business environment

Acontractioninthe number of new orused car transactions
could lead toreducedretailer profitability, leading to a fallin
advertising spend oracontractioninthe number of retailers.
Itcouldalsoleadtoareductionin manufacturers’ spendon
digitaldisplay advertising.

There continues to be concerns about the implications surrounding
the UK’'s departure from the EU. Economic conditions, currency
volatilityand consumer confidence levels could allbe adversely
affected, with theimpact likely to be greaterinano-dealscenario.

If the prices of carsincrease, as tariffsareintroduced,and consumer
confidence levels decrease, manufacturers’ appetite to supply
carstothe UKmarketreduces, thiscould have anadverseimpacton
ourbusiness.

Changesintheyear

New car sales have fallen by 3.7% during this financial year,
compared toanti%decline last financial year. The used car market,
which tendstolag new car sales, hasalsoseenadecline of 0.9%.
However, the overall UK car parc has continued to grow as the
number of carsregistered stilloutweighs the number of cars that
are scrapped eachyear.

We are not currently seeing evidence that consolidation by retailers
isaccelerating. The number of retailer forecourts has remained flat
year-on-year. Advertising spend by retailers has also continued to
grow with ARPRrising by 9%, mostly driven by adoption of our
productinnovations.

There continues to be significant uncertainty around ongoing Brexit
negotiationsandthe timing of the UK'sdeparture from the EU.

Overall, thisrisk has slightly increased.

Key mitigations

We monitor new and used car transactions closely, using data from
SMMT and directly from the DVLA.

We use our own Auto Trader Retail Price Index to monitor the pricing
trends of used cars by trade sellers.

We continue to diversifyintorelated and adjacent activities to
reduce ourreliance onstockand toimprove the resilience of our
business model.

We closely manage our cost base and operate on aleanbasis.
We should be able torespond swiftly in the event of adownturn.

The Board has considered the potentialimplications of the UK's
departure fromthe EU, takinginto account the factorsabove, as
wellasthe time lag betweentheregistration of new carsand the
entry of carsinto the used car marketplace and the strength of our
value proposition.

Relevant focus areas Change

oo ° Slightincrease
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2. Brand

Ourbrandisone of our biggestassets. Our research shows that we
are the most trusted automotive classified brandin the UK.

Failure to maintain and protect our brand, or negative publicity that
affects ourreputation (for example, adata breach), could diminish
the confidence thatretailers, consumers and advertisers havein
our productsand services,andresultinareductioninaudience
andrevenue.

Changesintheyear

Ourresearchshows that Auto Trader has 90% prompted brand
awareness with consumers fornew andused carsandis
consistently voted as the mostinfluentialautomotive website by
consumersinthe carbuying process.

We continue to see very low levels of fraudulent and misleading
adverts, due to additional measures and monitoring techniques
used by our security team.

Key mitigations

We have a clearand open culture withafocus on trustand
transparency.

We have adedicated customer security team, who closely
monitor our site to identify and quickly remove fraudulent or
misleading adverts.

We investinnew andinnovative marketing campaigns and new ways
of engaging car buyers to continue to maintain brand awareness,
andtochange perceptions of Auto Trader to be adestination for
new carsas wellasused.

Ourapproachtocybersecurityand data protection, as described
on page 32, helpsto protectus from the adverseimpactofa
significant databreach or cyberattack.

e Read more about ourKey
Performance Indicators
pages20-23
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3. Increased competition

There are severalonline competitorsin the automotive classified
market, and alternative routes for consumers to sell cars, such as car
buying services or part-exchange.

Competitors could develop superior consumer experiences or
retailer products that we are unable to replicate; or change focus to
try to expand theirrange of stock and disrupt our market position.

This couldimpact our ability to grow revenue due to the loss of
audience or customers, or erosion of our paid-for business model.

Changesinthe year

The competitive landscape continues to develop, with new
business models emerging. Big media players, such as Schibsted
and Facebook, are also entering the marketplace, mostly competing
forlower-value private sales. There has been some competitor
consolidationduring the year, and retailers and manufacturers are
also evolving their online offerings.

During the year we diversified our offerings which widens our
competitive set.

We have maintained share of minutes spent onautomotive
classified sites, grown cross platform visits as measured by Google
Analytics,and continue toincrease the level of stock onsite,
however as we widen our activitiesinto new areas, we increase the
number of other companies that could be considered to be
competitors. On this basis we judge competition to have increased
slightly during the year.

Key mitigations

We have the largestand most engaged audience of any UK
automotive site. Ourinvestmentin our brand helpsus to protectand
grow ouraudience, to ensure that we remain the mostinfluential
website for consumers when purchasing avehicle.

We have adedicated competitors’ working group to closely monitor
competitoractivity and regularly review thisat OLT and Board level.

We continue toinvestinand develop our product offering to
improve the value we offer to consumers, retailersand
manufacturers.

We workinan agile way and to date have responded quickly to
emerging competitive threats.

Relevant focus areas

000000

Change

e No change

Relevant focus areas

000000

Change
° Slightincrease
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Identify, evaluate and

manage the Group’s risks

4. Failure to innovate: disruptive
technologies and changing
consumer behaviours

Failure to develop and execute new products or technologies, or to
adapt to changing consumer behaviour towards car buying, or
ownership, could have anadverse impact. Forexample, this could
lead to missed opportunities should we fail to be at the forefront of
industry developments.

Changesintheyear

During 2019, we introduced “deal builder”, which brings
part-exchange guide pricing and the finance quote intoamore
integrated journey forconsumers. We also launched AT Vehicle
Checkwhichenables dealers to check the provenance of the
vehicles they are sourcing, and to display thisto consumers thereby
improving transparency. We have re-platformed our Managing
productsto provide more powerful datatoretailers, helping them to
manage and price stock more effectively. We have introduced a
service by which carretailers canadvertise new carsincluding those
built butyet to be delivered to their physical premises.

We also launched ajoint venture with Cox Automotive UK to provide
adigital online auction modelto disrupt the auction marketplace.

Overall, we are at the forefront of innovation thatis happeningin the
digitalautomotive marketplace and therefore the riskhas decreased.

Key mitigations

Continuousresearchinto changing consumer behaviour, regular
horizon scanning and monitoring of emerging trends, use of
externalresources where needed, andregular contact with
similar businesses around the world.

Formalreviews of opportunities to disrupt the marketplace.

Ability toinnovate and respond quickly due to our agile and
collaborative way of working, and continuous investment
intechnology.

5. IT systems and cyber security

Asadigitalbusiness, we arerelianton our ITinfrastructure to
continue to operate.

Any significant downtime of our systems would resultinan
interruption to the services we provide.

Asignificant databreach, whetheras aresult of our own failures or
amalicious cyber-attack, would lead toalossin confidence by the
public, carretailersand advertisers.

Thiscouldresultinreputationaldamage, loss of audience, loss of
revenue and potential financial losses in the form of penalties.

Changesintheyear

The enactment of GDPRin May 2018 significantly increased the
financialimpact of adata breach. We have reviewed all processes
thatinvolve datacollection, storage or processing, and updated
andamended policies and processes to ensure that they meet the
enhanced GDPRrequirements.

During 2019, we have made significant progressin migrating our
applicationstothe cloud, whichincreases the resilience of our
systems and the security of our data. Ouraimisto getall
applications migrated to the cloudinthe nexttwo years.

The constantly evolving threat of a cyberattack means that overall
therisklevelisunchanged.

Key mitigations

We have a disaster recovery and business continuity planinplace
whichisregularly reviewed and tested. Thisincludes the use of two
datacentresandregular backups of data. We arein the process of
migrating to the public cloud.

We continuously monitor the availability and resilience of
processing systemsand services. If required, we canrestore the
availability of and access to systems and datainatimely mannerin
the event of aphysical ortechnicalincident.

We have dedicated security teams, including white hat hackers, and
carryoutregular penetration testing and review of threats and
vulnerabilities. We investin IT and security infrastructure to ensure
our systemsremain robust.

Allof ouremployeesare required toundertake annualcompliance
training whichincludes Information Security and GDPR.

We have two-factor verification forall our car retailersand
employees, toaccess our network.

We have been PCIDSS (payment card industry data security
standard) compliant since 2013 and use an external Quality Security
Assessor to maintain best practice.

Relevant focus areas Change

0 0 60 ° Slight decrease

Relevant focus areas Change

000 c No change
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6. Employees

Our continued success requires us to attract, recruit, motivate and
retain our highly skilled workforce, with a particular focus on
specialist technological and data skills. Failure to do so could result
inthe loss of key talent.

Changesintheyear

Employee engagementremains high, with 92% of employees
completing our engagement survey saying they are proud to work at
Auto Trader. Our Glassdoor rating based onanonymous reviews is
4.50utof 5.

The Remuneration Committee carried outareview of our long-term
incentive plans,andintroduced a new Single Incentive Plan for
senior executive and key staff.

Inpreparation for the changesto the 2018 Corporate Governance
Code, we have established anew employee engagement forum
which will liaise with the Board to ensure we understand the views
of ourworkforce.

Overall, thisriskremains unchanged.

Key mitigations

We use long-termincentive plans for our senior and key staff, which
are currently of material value to those inthe schemes.

We carry out active succession planning and career development
planstoretainand develop our executives. Talentdevelopmentis
now part of the Terms of Reference of the Nomination Committee.

We have a strong, values-led culture whichis embedded through
recruitment,induction, training and appraisal processes.

We carry out employee engagement surveys and closely monitor
Glassdoorratings. We have regular business updates, networks,
guildsandanall-employee annual conference.

e Read more about ourKey
Performance Indicators
pages20-23

7. Reliance on third parties

We rely onthird parties particularly with regard to supply of data
aboutvehiclesandtheirfinancing, soitisimportant that we manage
relationships with,and performance of, key suppliers. If these
suppliers were to suffer significant downtime or fail, this could lead
toalossofrevenue fromdealer customersandaloss of audience
due toimpaired consumer experience.

Changesintheyear

Thisisnotanewrisk for the business buthasbeenaddedasa
principalriskduring 2019 as aresult of anincreasing number of our
productsandservices depending ondata from suppliers.

Key mitigations

Where possible, we limitreliance onasingle supplier toreduce
potential single points of failure.

Contractsandservice levelagreementsarein place with allkey
suppliers. New relationships go through arobust procurementand
legalreview process,and are subject toregular review.

We carry outdue diligence on ourkey suppliersand partners at the
onsetof therelationship and throughout the life of these
relationships. Thisincludes financial viability, resilience and
alignment with ourvaluesand culture.

We seek to develop strong commercial relationships with our
partnersand regularly explore ways of working together even more
effectively. We monitor the performance of partnersand suppliers
toensure continued quality and uptime.

Relevant focus areas Change

(2] Q No change
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Relevant focus areas Change

0920000 ° Increase
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Viability statement

Inaccordance with Provision C.2.2 of the 2016 UK Corporate
Governance Code, the Directors have assessed the prospects
and viability of the Group over a period significantly longer than
12 months from the approval of these financial statements.

Assessment of prospects

The Board has determined that a period of

threeyearsto March 2022 is the most

appropriate period to provide its viability

statementdue to:

—itbeing consistent with the Group's rolling
three-year strategic planning process;

—itreflectsreasonable expectationsin
terms of the reliability and accuracy of
operational forecasts;and

— projections looking out further than three
years become significantly less meaningful
giventhe pace of changein the digital
automotive market.

The Group's overall strategy and business
model,assetoutonpages12to19,are central
toassessingits future prospects.

Assuch, key factors likely to affect the future
development, performance and position of
the Group are:

— Dataand technology: continuous
investmentismadeindeveloping platform
technologies whichleads toimprovements
forconsumers, retailersand manufacturers;

— Market position: the Group has the largest
and most engaged audience of any UK
automotive site andis the mostinfluential
website aconsumer visits when purchasing
avehicle; and

— People: continued successand growthare
dependentontheability to attract, retain
and motivate a highly skilled workforce,
with a particular focus on specialist
technologicaland dataskills.

The Group's prospects are assessed
primarily throughits strategic planning
process. This processincludesanannual
review of the ongoing plan, led by the Group
CEO and CFO/CEO-designate through the
Operational Leadership Teamandin
conjunction withrelevant functions.

The Board participates fully in the annual
process and has the task of considering
whether the plan continues to take
appropriate account of the external
environmentincluding technological,
socialand macroeconomic changes.

The output of the annualreview process
isasetof objectives which the Group
determinestobeits focus areas,ananalysis
of therisks that could prevent the plan being
delivered,andthe annual financial budget.
The latest updates to the planwere finalised
in March 2019, which considered the Group's
current positionandits prospects over the
forthcomingyears.

Detailed financial forecasts that consider
customer numbers, stock levels, ARPR,
revenue, profit, cash flow and key financial
ratios have been prepared for the three-year
periodto March2022. Funding requirements
have also been considered, with particular
focus onthe ongoing compliance with the
covenantsattachedtothe Group's
Syndicated RCF.

The firstyear of the financial forecasts forms
the Group’s 2020 annual budgetandis
subjecttoongoingreview through the year.
The secondand thirdyearsare preparedin
detailand are flexed based on the actual
resultsinyearone. Progress against financial
budgetsandfocusareasarereviewed
monthly by both the Operational Leadership
Team and the Board.

This controlmeasureisinplace to prevent
and mitigate the impact of factors that may
affect the Group's prospects.

Assessment of viability

The output of the Group’s strategicand
financial planning process detailed previously
reflects the Board's best estimate of the
future prospects of the business. To make the
assessment of viability, however, additional
scenarios have been modelled overand
above thoseinthe ongoing plan, based upon
anumber of the Group’s principal risks and
uncertainties which are documented on
pages 30to 33. These scenarios were overlaid
into the plan to quantify the potentialimpact
of one ormore of these crystallising over the
assessment period.

While each of the Group's principal risks has
apotentialimpactand has therefore been
consideredas part of the assessment, only
those thatrepresent severe but plausible
scenarios have been modelled through the
plan. These were:

Scenario 1: Reduction of stock on the Auto
Trader marketplace

Link to risk - Economy, market and business
environment, Increased competition, Failure
toinnovate: disruptive technologies and
changing consumer behaviour.
Macroeconomic factors suchas consumer
confidence have animpactonthe number

of newandused cartransactions that occur
inthe UKand therefore mayimpactretailer
and manufacturer profitability. Acontraction
inthe number of newand used cartransactions
when coupled with failure toinnovate new
productsinorderto grow ARPRinasustainable
way, could lead toretailers reducing their
advertising spendin favour of competitors.

Thisscenario assumesashockreductionin
live car stockaround a pricing event. The
number of retailers advertising stock with
the Group was assumed toreduceinashort
space of time with furtherreductionsin the
year after the shock event. No cost savings
were assumed.

Scenario 2: Databreaches

Link torisk - IT systems and cyber security,
Brand.

Theimpactof anyregulatory fines hasbeen
considered. The biggest of theseisthe
General Data Protection Regulation ('GDPR’)
fine for data breaches, which was enacted
in May 2018. This scenario assumes a data
breachresultingin the maximum fine,
coupled with asignificantlevel of
reputationaldamage to the Group’s brand.
Aseverereductioninrevenue was modelled
through each of the Trade, Consumer
Services and Manufacturerand Agency
areas. Marketing costs were increased to
modelapotential need toincrease traffic.

The scenarios above are hypotheticaland
severe for the purpose of creating outcomes
that have the ability to threaten the viability
of the Group; however, multiple control
measures arein place to preventand mitigate
any such occurrences fromtaking place.

Theresults of the stress testing
demonstrated that due to the Group's
significant free cash flow,accesstothe
Syndicated RCF and the Board's ability to
adjust the discretionary share buyback
programme, it would be able to withstand
theimpactandremain cash generative.

Viability statement

Based ontheirassessment of prospects and
viability above, the Directors confirm that
they have areasonable expectationthatthe
Group willbe able to continue in operation
and meetits liabilities as they falldue over
the three-year period ending March 2022.

Going concern

The Directors also considereditappropriate
to prepare the financial statements onthe
going concern basis, as explainedin the Basis
of preparation paragraphinnoteitothe
financial statements.
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We take our corporate social responsibilities seriously
and are constantly looking at what we can implement
to continue to make a difference.

Akeybusiness strategic focusis tobecome
the UK’'s most admired digital business and
we all agree that to achieve this we must
make a difference to our colleagues, to our
customers, to consumers and to wider
society. We have built adigital culture, that
is values-orientated, customer-centric,
data-driven,and also underpinned by
creating adiverse andinclusive workforce.

Our values reflect our culture and
commitment to make a difference

Our values

Be determined

We are passionate about our customers,
showing stamina and resilience,and have
the conviction to do the right thing. We will
rollup our sleeves to get the job done.

Bereliable

We are outcome-oriented and we do what
we say we willdo. We perform under
pressure and have a strong work ethic.

Be courageous

We are bold in our thinking, overcoming
fears, challenging convention and embracing
change.

Be humble

We are open, honest, approachable and
we treat each other fairly. We recognise
successinourselves and others butadmit
and learn from mistakes.

Be curious

We are always learning. We question why,
we search for better ways, ask questions
andactively listen.

Be community- minded

We look after each other, respect
diversity and advocate inclusion. We are
committed to making a difference to the
communities around us and think of
othersbefore ourselves.
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Our CSR strategy is focused on ‘Making
aDifference’ and comprises three key
strands: making a difference to our people
and culture; making a difference to our
communities; and making a difference to
the industries in which we operate.
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Corporate social responsibility continued

Making a
difference

to our people
and culture

People are the Group’s most valuable
resource, so we have built abusiness
that puts people at the heart of
everything we do. Our success at
Auto Traderis down to the diverse
talent of innovative, courageous,
talented and determined people.

We value our people and their
opinions. Therefore, we organise
anannualemployee conference
where all colleagues get the chance
to gettogether to celebrate our
achievements butalso to hear the

latest strategic thinking and priorities.

We also hold regular business and
financialupdates throughout the
year to keep employeesinformed of
the Group's performance and
priorities as well as giving them the
opportunity to contribute with
questionsandideas.

THE SUNDAY TIMES

100

BEST
COMPANIES
TOWORK FOR

2019

92

of our people feel proud
towork for Auto Trader

= AutoTroder

ATConi9

Employee engagement and recognition

We conducted anotheremployee
experience survey and achieved aresponse
rate of 91% of our total workforce. Overall
engagementremains positive with 92%
(2018:90%) of our people feeling proud to
work for Auto Traderand 89% (2018: 88%)
saying they would recommend us as a great
place towork. Our Glassdoor rating based
on250anonymousreviewsis4.5out of 5.
There were also areas toimprove across our
different Tribes and our senior leaders have
takenactionstoenhance the employee
experience based ontheresults of the
survey which have resultedin workshops to
produce actionplans. We also hold regular
checks throughout the year that allow our
teamstospendtime togetherinanopen
and secure environment to discuss how they
feelin the workplace and how we are doing
against our key areas of improvement as
wellas asix-month pulse survey.

For the third yearrunning, we participatedin
andjoinedthe “Sunday Times Top 100 Best
CompaniestoWork for” and we achieved a
two-star “outstanding” rating.

Everyyear we hostanannual benefits
roadshow, bringing together all of our benefit
providers, to really showcase the great
benefits we have to offer. Our “Incredible
Benefits” platform allows employees to
accessallthe benefits offered at Auto Trader
inone place, enabling themto tailor their
benefits package to meet their own specific
needs. Itisevident that ouremployees place
alotof valuein the benefits on of fer with 98%
of employees having one or more benefits
inplace. This year,our company funded
healthcare benefit of either Private Medical
Insurance (employee level) or Health
Cashplan (up to family level) remained

very popular. We also have awide range of
voluntary benefits that ouremployees

have the flexibility to choose from

including: criticalillness, dentalinsurance
and any time benefits suchas travelloans
and cycle towork schemes.

QOur 2015 Save as You Earn (SAYE) scheme
reached maturity at the end of 2018 and the
introduction of the SAYE 2018 scheme saw
over 50%of employeesjoin the scheme.
Thisyear we have alsointroduced employee
friends and family manufacturer discounts
from the likes of BMW and Nissan and now
offerindependent mortgage advice for
allemployees.
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Training and development

Investing heavily in the development of

our people remains akey focus for our
business. Allnew starters are given a great
starttotheircareerswithusthrougha
comprehensive onboarding programme
whichincludesathree-dayinductionthat
allows them tounderstand the core values
of our business and help achieve aone-team
culture.

Everyoneisresponsible for their own career
and personaldevelopmentat Auto Trader.
We aim to have quarterly development
conversationsand personal development
plans with people leaders that provide an
opportunity toreflectand ensure we
remain successfulinthe future.

Our people managers take partinthe
Practical People Leadership Programme
(PPLP)and our seniorleaders take partinthe
Leadership Development Programme (LDP),
bothaimedatdeveloping wellrounded
leaders that will drive the future of

Auto Trader.

We are allunigue and have different needs
aswellaslearning styles, sowe offera
variety of learninginitiatives thatare a
mixture of workshops, bitesize sessions,
on-the-job solutions, the chance to attend
and participate in conferences, coaching and
mentoring, online learning and professional
qualifications. Our Learning & Development
team has experts specialising in various
fieldsincluding: personal; career; leadership;
systems; business-related training; and
coaching and mentoring. We also utilise
externalexpertsto bringinsight and
knowledge into our organisation
whenrequired.

a1

Investing heavily in the
development of our
people remains a key
focus for our business.”
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Employee wellbeing

Our objectiveistoretainand maintain a
healthy and happy workforce, so we need
to constantly have a culture that energises,
motivates and promotesresilience.

We've always been committed to making
Auto Trader a great place to workand we
continuously strive to provide the best
support, guidance and benefits to make this
agreatenvironment foreveryone to thrive.

We treat our people asindividuals and
appreciate that everyone has theirown
unique set of circumstances and challenges
around wellbeing. Consequently, we have
consciously built our wellbeing strategy
around three core pillars: mental; physical;
and financial wellbeing. Approaching health
from a holistic perspective helped us derive
the conceptof having “more good days
atwork”.

We want to provide the tools, supportand
guidance foreachindividual to have more
good days whether that be utilising our
incredible benefits such as private medical
insurance, oradiscounted gym membership
through our Auto Trader discount site, to
requesting to speak to one of our 20 newly
qualified Mental Health First Aiders.
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Inadditionto these supportive services, we
recently focused on developing our People
Leads, specificallyin the challenges around
mentalill health. We wanted to equip our
managers with the knowledge to spot the
signs and symptoms of mental healthissues
and give them the confidence to guide their
people towards appropriate support. The
Mental Health First Aiders actas asupport
tothe wider businessinthisarea.

To supportour financial wellbeing strand,
we partnered with amortgage broker who
offered free, no obligation one-to-one
mortgage advice sessions to anyone looking
togetonthe property ladder. To make this
advice evenmore accessible, the serviceis
offered either face to face, viaonline video
call, or telephone appointments, meaning
gettinganappointmentisreally easy no
matter whereyou are. We also launched the
incredibly popular Virgin Pulse 100 Day Global
Challenge to motivate people to get moving
through monitoring their daily step countvia
afitnesstracker. The challenge sees teams
of sevenwork together to ‘walk’ around the
virtual globe and encourage healthy
competition onan organisational leader
board, whilst of fering practical tips and
advice onarange of topics from nutrition
andsleep, to mindfulness.
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Corporate social responsibility continued

Making a difference to
diversity and inclusion

Striving to make Auto Trader aninclusive
employer where diverse people can enjoy
fulfilling careers, while making a positive
contribution to the communities we
operatein, remains a strategic priority for
our business. Our dedicated Diversity

& Inclusion working group has been
committed for the past three years to design
anddeliveracomprehensive strategy
concentrating on all diversity strands with
afocuson: LGBT+; gender equality; disability
and neurodiversity; and BAME.

Diversity for everyone at Auto Trader means
respect forand appreciation of differences
in: genderidentity and expression, age, sexual
orientation, disability, race and ethnic origin,
religionand faith, marital status, social,
educationalbackground and way of thinking.
We believe thatinclusionis a state of being
valued, respected and supported for whoyou
are. Diversityis the mix, inclusionis getting the
mix to work welltogether.

Colleagues fromacross the business

and our employee working groups have
continued to achieve positive results against
their commitments.

90

of ourwomen are proud
towork for Auto Trader

55«

of graduates whojoined us
lastyear were women

Allnew starters participatedin one-day
workshops focusing on creatingacommon
understanding of D&l as wellas exploring
participants’ unconscious biases and how
they canimpact their own behaviourand
relationships with other people inside and
outside of work. They also metall of our
employee working groups and gotan update
onhow they canactively getinvolvedin
delivering our strategy. We again extended
theinvite to customers and partners who
participatedinthe workshop and took some
of the learnings back to theirown
organisations.

Ouremployee groups and networks (Family
Network, Women's Network; photography,
book, board game, running and film clubs)
continue to bring our colleagues togetherin
line with our philosophy thatinclusion willbe
achieved byrespecting each other’s
differences but concentrating on finding
common ground.

LGBT+

We took partinthe Stonewall Index
benchmarking and moved up the rankings by
more than100 places compared to lastyear
after making significant progressincluding
reviewing our policies and processes while
improving the employee experience of
LGBT+ colleagues.

In August, more than a hundred of our
employeestook partinthe Manchester Pride
Festival parade and we were awarded “Best
Corporate Entry” for the third consecutive
year,recognising our passion for creativity.
We also sponsored the film “Invisible
Women" as part of the Superbia culture
festival;ashortdocumentary charting the
last 50 years of Manchester LGBT+ history
throughthe personalstory of twoincredible
women. As part of our commitment to make a
difference to the community we have
sponsored community groups and charities,
including Manchester Frontrunnersand the
George House Trust, who aim to support
LGBT+ people across theregion.

Disability & Neurodiversity
Thisyear we have launched our Disability &
Neurodiversity Employee Network led by
disabled and neurodiverse colleagues, as
wellasallies. The networkis working towards
creatingamore accessible andinclusive
environment and supporting the work we are
doing with various charities including Action
onHearing Lossand the Leonard Cheshire
Disability. We continue being part of the
Department of Work and Pension Disability
Confident Employer Scheme and are
progressing towards achieving the Disability
Leader levelin 2019 following the completion
of an externalaudit by the Clear Company.

We remain committed to supporting
disabled and neurodiverse employees, and
those who become disabled during their
employment with us. Recognising that
everyoneisunique, we provide the right
supporttoensure they continue torealise
their full potentialat work and develop their
careers withus. Thisyear we have also added
more supportand education for managers of
disabled and neurodiverse colleagues.

38 | AutoTraderGroup plc AnnualReportand Financial Statements 2019



Anexample of thisare workshops on autism,
dyslexiaand hearingloss that we have run
throughout the year.

Our dedicatedresourcing teamis actively
reaching out to disabled and neurodiverse
candidates and welcomes theirapplications
foremployment. They take great carein
making reasonable adjustments during the
assessment processaccording to the needs
of eachindividual, to ensure that they can
performat their best.

BAME

Avyearago,aworking group comprising both
BAME (Black, Asian,and Minority Ethnic) and
non-BAME representatives was established
inorder to celebrate multi-culturalism,
encourage inclusivity,and not exclusivity.
The group committed toraising awareness
of BAME within the business, supporting
the BAME community and helping with
therecruitmentand retention of BAME
individuals. As wellas running a series of
internalevents foremployees, the group
alsoheld anexternaleventin conjunction
with Inclusive Companies during Black
History Month which was open to local
businessesinthe Manchesterarea. This
event coupled with asocial media takeover
forthe monthreally began to highlight the
importance of BAME to both Auto Trader
employees and the wider community.

We are pleased toreport that the number of
those whoidentify themselves as BAME has
increased slightly from13%to14%inthe year.
However, although thisis encouraging, the
numbers don’trepresent wider society and
sowe willcontinue to focus ondriving
initiatives to continue to positively influence
anupward trend of BAME individuals at
Auto Trader.

Gender

People canexperience barriers based on
their genderaswellas other diversity
characteristics simultaneously, so we have
changed ourapproach toaddress this. Our
Auto Trader Women's Networkis a working
group of menand women hosting events
focusing on supporting gender balance.
Within this, we have focused on helping
women to be resilientinthe workplace,
building theirown personal brand, as well as
launching abook group and support network.

We have established aninternal mentoring
and coaching community, launched earlier
thisyearas part of the Auto Trader Women's
Network. We have sponsored three of our
women colleagues to become qualified
coachesso thattheycansupportourpeople
with their personaland professional career
development.

Ourannual Employee Engagement Survey
answered by 91% of our workforce has provided
positive evidence about the experience of our
women colleaguesin Auto Trader. 96% of our
women are proud to work for Auto Trader, 90%
of ourwomenwouldrecommend Auto Trader
asagreatplace towork,and 85% of ourwomen
said theyreceived supportfrompeople at
workwhentheyneedit.

Inthe12 months to December 2018 women
have successfully secured 44% of allinternal
vacancies. Our externalrecruitment efforts
remain successfuland 46% of all external job
offers have beenaccepted by women who
have joined us. 55% of our graduates and 60%
of ourapprentices whojoined us last year
were women. We also introduced a
“re-training” programme for people who
want to change their career to digitaland 60%
of participants are women.

Gender pay gap

Whenitcomes to our gender pay gap we have
followed the government's legislationin
terms of reporting on those whoidentify as
men orwomen, whichinitselfisashame as
those gender definitionsdon’tinclude those
who identify as non-binary. We have made
progressandimprovedinallareas since last
year,and although a gap still exists, we are
working hard to addressit. The mean hourly
gender pay gap for Auto Trader Group was
12%(2018:15%) while the median gap was 13%
(2018:18%). This gapis notaboutinequality of
pay. We are confident that menand women
are paid equally across the business for
comparableroles. Our gender pay gap arises
fromunder-representation of womenin
certain highly paid functions, including
technology and other STEMrelatedroles,

as wellasunder-representation of women
inleadershiproles.

We won't be satisfied until we reach parity,
andtherefore remain dedicated to
eliminating the gender pay gap completely.
Ourcommitment that everyone has equal
opportunities toreach their full potential
remainsin line with our focus to welcome
more women into our business and to offer
them exciting careers.

Gender diversity

We are committed to more women at senior
management leveland throughout the
organisation. Thisis particularly prevalentin
parts of the business where women are
currentlyunder-represented, such as
technology. Throughout most of the year,
50% of our Operational Leadership Team
(‘OLT') were women, and we were delighted
tobeabletopromote Le Etta Pearce to Chief
Executive Officer of our new jointventure
with Cox Automotive UK, which meant
thatshe leaves our OLT to take up this
opportunity. At the end of our financial year,
42% of our OLT were women, and 36% of the
OLT'sdirectreports were women.

Men Women
as % of as % of

Men Women total total

Board 4 2 67% 33%
OoLT! 7 5 58% 42%
OLT direct
reports 69 38 64% 36%
Total 488 3n 61% 39%
Company

1 Seniormanagers for the purpose of s.414C of the
Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Reportand Directors’
Report) Regulations 2013.
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Corporate social responsibility continued

Making a difference
to our communities

We have adedicated team of colleagues
fromacross our business who are
committed todriving our Make a Difference
strategy, which aims to maximise the
supportandimpact we provide to the
communitiesin which we operate.

The Auto Trader Community Fund powered
by charity Forever Manchester considers
applicationsandawards up to £1,000 to
community groups and grassroots
projectsacross Greater Manchester. The
Community Fund also supports projects
with the Kings Cross Saint Pancras
Community Association. This year, the
Fund has donated £75,000 to various local
groups, inboth cities, that bring people
togetherand empower themto create
sustainable changesintheirlives.

Donations from Auto Trader directly to
other charities totalled an additional
£100K through our “AT Sponsorships”
initiative which provides match-funding
toemployees, customers and partners
who were fundraising for charities that
are closetotheirhearts.

£212,000

donatedto charity in 2019

Also, thisyear we decided toreplace
corporate Christmas gifts to customers
with donations to charities of their choice.
Our Give as You Earnscheme participation
has reached16% of our total workforce and
£90,000 was donated to various charities
by ourcolleagues.

But making a difference extends to

more than donating money. 45% of our
colleagues have utilised one of our
Incredible Benefits, two optional
volunteering days, to support worthy
causesacross the UK. They have
collectively offered 467 volunteering
daystotryand battle food poverty,
renovate green spaces and provided
coaching and mentoring. The participants
of our Leadership Development
Programme took partinldeathon;joining
amixof leaders from some of the most
exciting organisations worldwide,
collaborating to solve alive strategic
challenge for the CEO of a

leading charity.

Our offices and colleagues

As adigital business, with officesin
Manchester,Londonand Dublin, we believe
our environmental footprintis small.
Nevertheless, we actively encourage our
colleaguesto consider theirindividualand
our collective environmentalimpact. We
therefore operaterecycling systemsin the
offices, established with local authorities,
and we have no waste bins by desks which
encourages the amount of recycling we do.
Asanonline business, we naturally workina
near paperless environment. During the year
we reduced the number of printersinall our
offices fromsevento four. However, we
recognise that our responsibilities do not
stop withhow we operate internally,and we
encourage all our customers, business
partnersand suppliers to use online records
andreduce printing, especially emails.

We continue to develop our marketplace to
ensure we provide consumers with as much
information about different carsas possible,
toreduce the need forthem to physically
view multiple cars, therefore reducing the
needto travel.

Lastyear, we started a sustainability working
group, setup by ouremployees to educate
and encourage sustainability. The group held
aweek-long sustainability and climate
change projectto showcase the need to be
more environmentally minded. The group has
implemented severalinitiatives across the
year,such as: reducing single-use drinkitems
including giving away re-usable bottlesand
coffee cupstoouremployees; offeringalOp
discountonreusable coffee cupsinour
Manchester staff canteen; offering plastic
bagreusing pointsinalllocations; and
removing plastic milk containersinthe
London office (so far saving 501 containers
from going to landfill). The group'’s
achievements were recognised whenone

of the group was selected to be partof the
Edie 30 under 30, which highlights the next
generation of sustainability leaders.

Our UK offices are both graded highly by the
BREEAM standard; Kings Crossin London
achieved an "outstanding” rating and our
Manchester office an “Excellent” rating.

We decided tore-fitour London officeinthe
lastyearanditnow features more video
conferencing rooms, which facilitates
cross-office collaborationas well as
reducing the need for employees to travel
between offices as frequently.

We continue to use Fruitful Office to deliver
fruitto our offices each week. Fruitful Office
plants one tree in Malawi for every order of
breakfast fruit theyreceive. Lastyear1,966
trees were planted on behalf of Auto Trader,
helping the organisation to mitigate the
effects of global warming and deforestation
and providingincomes to local communities.

Health and safety

Maintaining a safe working environment for our
employees, customersandvisitorsand anyone
affected by ourbusiness’s activitiesisvery
importanttous. Itistherefore our policy thatall
of the Group's facilities, products and services
comply withapplicable lawsandregulations
governing safetyand quality. During the year,
there were no majorinjuries reportedunder the
Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous
Occurrences Regulations.
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Total CO, emissions FY19

FY19 FY18 FY17 FY16
Scopel 263 390 491 565
Manchester 213 281 361 357
London 44 60 76 88
Scope 2 258 340 437 445
Total 521 731 928 1,010
Revenue 355.1 3301 31.5 281.6
Carbonintensity 1.47 2.21 2.98 3.59
Year-on-year change -34% -26% -17%

1 Tonnes of carbondioxide equivalent.
2 Absolute carbonemissions divided by revenue in millions.

Auto Traderisrequired to measure and
reportitsdirectandindirect greenhouse
gas ('GHG’) emissions by the Companies Act
2006 (Strategic Reportand Directors’ Report)
Regulations 2013. The greenhouse gas
reporting periodisaligned to the financial
reporting year. The methodology used to
calculate ouremissionsisbasedonthe
financial consolidation approach, as
definedinthe Greenhouse Gas Protocol,

A Corporate Accounting and Reporting
Standard (Revised Edition). Emission
factorsusedare from UK government
('BEIS’) conversion factor guidance for
theyearreported.

Thereportincludes the ‘Scope1’ (combustion
of fuel)inrelation to company carsand ‘Scope
2' (purchased electricity and gas) emissions
associated with our offices. We have chosen
toinclude the emissions associated with
leased company carsinScopel,asweare
responsible forthese emissions.

We have chosento presentarevenue
intensity ratio as thisisarelevantindicator of
our growthandisaligned with our business
strategy. Thereductionin our GHG emissions
isdue toareductioninthe fuel emissions
fromour company car fleet, as the fleet has
reduced. We have also reduced the amount
of electricity we use, and this coupled with
adecreasein BEIS conversion factors has
also contributed to our Scope 2 reduction.

B o= b = |
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Corporate social responsibility continued

Making a
difference

to our
industries

Our Make a Difference strategy
extends to ensuring we support
the wider technology, automotive,
advertising and creative industries.

We are customer-centric and
consumer-orientated which means we
arerelentlessly focused on developing
new products that willadd value to our
retailerand manufacturer customers,
as wellas constantly developing our
marketplace to ensure consumers
getagreatexperience whether they
are looking tobuy orsellacar.

We take pridein our collaborative
work with partners fromacross the
automotive and mediaindustries as
wellas withrecruitment businesses
who share our commitmentindriving
greater diversity acrossindustry.

We continue to promote Science,
Technology, Engineering, and
Maths (STEM) careers, through our
education outreach activities.

5,000

Retailers attended one of
our best practice events,
masterclasses or webinars

The automotive industry

Lastyear we worked with recruitment
specialists, Ennis & Co., to co-hostadiversity
andinclusion eventat our London offices,
where circa. 80 HR Directors and senior
executives fromsome of the industry’s
largestretailers, manufacturers and trade
bodies came togethertoshareideas,
experiencesand best practice. The event
was followed by anin-depth whitepaper
developed by our Auto Trader colleagues
which explored the culturaland economic
benefits of attracting andretaining a
diverse workforce.

We formed anew partnership with the UK
Automotive 30% Club, which was created
with the ambition of filling at least 30% of key
leadership positionsinautomotive with
women by 2030. We are sponsoring a series
of eventsand thought leadership discussions
throughout 2019, helping the Club drive

its ‘30 by 30’ strategy.

We believe that supporting our industry
shouldn’t be limited to the boardroom
and conferences.

30%

Ourambitionistofillat
least 30% of key leadership
positionsinautomotive
withwomen by 2030

That's why last year we once again took part
inthe annual Bangers 4 Ben charity drive,
which saw some of our colleagues race
across Europeinanold ‘banger’ alongside
otherindustry partners, colleagues and
friends. Therace raised funds for the
automotive industry’s official charity
organisation, Ben.

With over40years' heritage and witha
privileged positionat the very heart of the
UKautomotive industry, we take our position
seriously. We actively celebrate and recognise
the best performingretailers eachyear, at our
annual Auto Trader Retailer Awards event.
Now inits1ithyear, we hosted 130 of the best
performingretailers to share the latest
insightsand to award their successes. The
awards are used by retailers to promote their
businessesto consumersonour marketplace.

Leading the industry, sharingideas, and
inspiring change and action are at the heart
of our work with our retailer customers.
Through our masterclasses, conferences,
webinars, in-house discovery days and
award events we share the latest consumer
trends, best practice advice and insights
gleaned from our datato help shape the
future of the industry.
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Why D&I matters
Rebecca Clark

Over 5,000 retailer customers orindustry
figuresjoined us for one of these sessions.

The technology industry

We have 26 STEM Ambassadors and
volunteers throughout the business who
provide talks and workshops to schools and
colleges, including running “Code Clubs” to
teachyoungerstudents how to code. Over
the pastyear we have also: hosted digital
insight days for students and teachers;
hosted Continuous Professional
Developmentactivities; brought the
curriculumto life with guest lessons/ talks;
and delivered digital careerinsight events for
careersadvisors. We're proudly sponsoring
the Digital Her Roadshow which aims to
showcase digital careers and inspire Year 8
girlsinto STEM subjects. We have also
partnered with Hey Girls, asocial enterprise
focused on eradicating period poverty.
We're gifting each school we meet through
the Digital Her programme with boxes of
sanitary protectionas we believe that no girl
should miss out on education due to lack of
sanitary protection.

We've also joined the Enterprise Advisor
Network and have an Enterprise Advisor
partnered withalocalschool. We are
supporting them by using our professional
networkandindustry knowledge to help
developandimplementan effective strategy
that puts opportunities with localemployers
atthe heartof ayoung person's education.

Following the success of the past three
yearswe continue to participate in the
“Change 100" programme organised by
the Leonard Cheshire Disability and
offered four summer placements to
disabled studentsin our Manchester
and London offices.

We've hosted and supported many
conferencesand events over the past
year. From Tomorrow's Tech Leaders, an
eventdesignedtoencourage young
womeninto the technology industry, to
Upfrontand UXin the City, major technical
conferencesin Manchester. As part of our
ongoing commitment to the surrounding
communities, we purchase ‘diversity
tickets’ where possible. This gives
underrepresented groups the opportunity
toattend conferencesand events they
otherwise wouldn’t have the chance
togoto.

Tosupporttheartsand designin Manchester

we continue our partnership with HOME

artscentre. We supported various initiatives
including the PUSH festival of fresh creative
experiences from the North West showcasing

some of the most exciting film, theatre and
visualarts from theregion.

Making Diversity
and Inclusion a
Business Reality

5 SNV
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Shanlo
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We're proudly
sponsoring the Digital
Her Roadshow which
aims to showcase
digital careers and
inspire Year 8 girls
into STEM subjects.”
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Corporate social responsibility continued

Being a
responsible
business

Auto Trader believesin promoting trust
and fairnessin our marketplace and this
has become part of the way we work
across the organisation. We aspire to be
the UK'smostadmired digital business
and we want thatadmiration to come
fromemployees, suppliers, partners
and customers alike.

The only way to deliver the best
experience forour consumers and the
best services for our customers - and
dotheright things by our people - is to
approach thingsin the right way. We
have established policies, procedures
and training to ensure that everyone
at Auto Trader knows that they must
behave professionally, ethically

and legally; treating people with
decencyandrespect.

We promote a culture of compliance
and sharedresponsibility by providing
advice andinformation to keep our
employees, consumers and
customers smart, safe and secure.

Maintaining a trusted marketplace
Buying or selling a car should be apleasant
and hassle-free experience, and should
be transparentand fair. At Auto Trader we
doeverything we canto make sure that's
the case.

We put the consumer at the heart of
everything we do. By introducing tools such
as Price Indicator, Dealer Reviews and
Monthly price search, weimprove the
transparency of the consumer’s car buying
journey and of the whole marketplace.

Consumers trust Auto Trader to show genuine,
accurate adverts whenthey search for
vehicles. We have a dedicated customer
security team working seven days aweek, who
monitor our site toidentify adverts thatare
potentially fraudulent or misleading, whether
thatbe amisleading price orinaccurate
mileage in theiradvert. We also have
functionality to enable users of our site to
reportamisleading advert whilst they are
searching, whichwe theninvestigate and, if
necessary,remove fromthe site. Our online
Safetyand Security area offers tips, checklists
and advice to help carbuyersand carowners
stay safe whenusing our platform. Over10
years ago, we founded the Vehicle Safe
Trading Advisory Group (VSTAG), anindustry
forum created toreduce online vehicle crime
and help protect buyersand sellers of
pre-owned vehicles from fraud. VSTAG brings
the UK's leading online car sales companies
togetherwith advisors from the Metropolitan
Police, Get Safe Online and Action Fraud.

Customers and consumers trust our
platform,and weinvesttokeepitsecure.
We continuously monitor the availability
andresilience of our platform and systems,
aswellasinvestinginsecurity infrastructure
toensure they remainrobust.

a1

We employ dedicated security teams and
carryoutregular penetration testing and
reviews of threats and vulnerabilities. We
have two-factor verificationin place to
access our network, providing enhanced
authentication. We have been PCIDSS
(payment cardindustry data security
standard) compliant since 2013 and use an
external Quality Security Assessor to
maintain best practice.

Protecting consumer and customer data
Protecting the data of our consumersand our
retailer customersisalsoanimportant focus
forus. We have completed acomprehensive
programme of work to ensure the
organisation (bothin the UKand Ireland)
complies withthe new General Data
Protection Regulation.

We are adata-led business,and whenit
comesto collecting and storing personal
datawe abide by aclearsetof principles.

We are committed to ensuring that personal
information we collectand useisappropriate
forthe purpose, and does not constitute an
invasion of privacy. Where appropriate

Auto Trader obtains consent from consumers
to gather personaldatatoservice their
enquiries for products, services or vehicles
advertised onthe site. Explicit consentis
also obtained to contact consumers for
marketing purposes. We may pass personal
datato third-party service providers
contracted to Auto Traderin the course of
dealing with customers or employees. We
carefully vetany third parties that we share
datawith,and theyare obliged to keepit
securely,and touseitonly to fulfilthe
service they provide on our behalf.

We put the consumer at the heart of everything we
do. By introducing tools such as Price Indicator,
Dealer Reviews and Monthly price search, we
improve the transparency of the consumer’s car
buying journey and of the whole marketplace.”
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Operating ethically and responsibly
We are committed to carrying outall
business activitiesinanhonest, open
and ethicalmanner.

We take a holistic view when deciding which
suppliersand partners we should work with,
andalignmentwith our values and cultureis
asimportantas commercial considerations.
We carefully vet new and existing
relationships to ensure that our standards
willbe adhered to. We have aformal
procurementpolicy thatensures that
selection of suppliersand partnersis
carried outinaconsistentand fairmanner.

We work closely with our key suppliersand
partnersand engage regularly to further
strengthenrelationships. As with all large
businesses, we publishinformation about
our supplier payment practices and
performance.

We treatall our customers fairly and
consistently, with transparent and
standardised pricing and business practices.

We have zero tolerance to any aspect of
bribery and corruption, both within our
businessandinrespect of any third parties
withwhom we have dealings. We have an
established anti-bribery and corruption
policy and proceduresin place including
reporting of giftsand hospitality, standard
contractual clauses with suppliersand
annualonline compliance training forall
employees.

Eachyear, ouremployees complete
compliance training that covers fraud,
bribery, anti-money laundering,
information security and GDPR.

We have a culture of transparency and
opennessand encourage ouremployees to
speakup whenever they have any concerns
orexperience any serious malpractice or
wrongdoingin our business. We provide a
whistleblowing helpline throughan
independent organisation, whichis
anonymous and confidential. Reports are
directedto the Audit Committee chairman
and the Company Secretary.

Protecting humanrights and

equal opportunity

We are committed to promoting diversity and
inclusionand treating allouremployees and
jobapplicants fairlyand equally. Itis our policy
nottodiscriminate based on gender or gender
identity, sexual orientation, marital or civil
partner status, genderreassignment, race,
religion or belief, colour, nationality, ethnic or
national origin, disability or age, pregnancy, or
trade union membership or the fact that they
are apart-time worker or a fixed-term
employee. The equal opportunities policy
operated by the Group ensures all workers
have adutytoactinaccordance with this.

We have a zero-tolerance approach to
modernslavery and are committed to
acting ethically and withintegrity inall our
business dealings and relationships,and to
implementing and enforcing effective
systems and controls to ensure modern
slaveryisnot taking place anywherein our
own business orinany of our supply chains.
We expect the same high standards fromall
our contractors, suppliersand other
business partners.

The Company's Strategic Report
issetoutonpagesito45. Approved
by the Board on 6 June 2019 and
signed onits behalf by:

Nathan Coe

Chief Financial Officer

and Chief Executive Officer-designate
6June 2019

Auto Trader Group plc AnnualReportandFinancial Statements 2019 | 45

SanLUGlElS]Q]OUEUH‘ 90URBUIBAO0D ‘ ;.loda.|o;§a;e.|;s ‘




	Contents
	2019 in summary
	Chairman’s statement
	Chief Executive Officer’s statement
	Our approach
	Market overview
	Our business model
	Growth horizons
	Growth horizon 1 – Core
	Growth horizon 2 – Adjacent 
	Growth horizon 3 – Future

	Our strategy
	Key performance indicators
	Financial
	Operational

	Operating and financial review
	Principal risks and uncertainties
	Viability statement

	Corporate social responsibility
	Governance overview
	Board of Directors
	Corporate governance statement
	Report of the Nomination Committee
	Report of the Audit Committee
	Directors’ remuneration report
	Annual statement
	Annual remuneration report

	Directors‘ report
	Independent auditors’ report to the members of Auto Trader Group plc only
	Consolidated income statement
	Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
	Consolidated balance sheet
	Consolidated statement of changes in equity
	Consolidated statement of cash flows
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements
	Company balance sheet
	Company statement of changes in equity
	Notes to the Company financial statements
	Shareholder information



